
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, July 25, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

REVISED 
NOTICE & AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF THE JULY 11, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  

 
4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those individuals 
who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of five (5) 
minutes. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of business 
to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

6. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for July 16-31, 2016  
 

7. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) Informational Report and Presentation from CROYA Manager Todd Nahigian Regarding CROYA 
Programs 

b) Request from the Lake Bluff Park District to Waive Building Permit Fees for the Replacement of Playground 
Equipment and Related Improvements in Artesian Park and Blair Park 

 
8. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 
10. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports on 
July 8 and 15, 2016. 
 

11. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR INOVASI RESTAURANT 
LOCATED AT 28 E. CENTER AVENUE 
 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – July 25, 2016 
 

Page 2 

12. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN TO ADD NEW LIGHTS ON THE LAKE BLUFF FIRE 
STATION LOCATED AT 45 E. CENTER AVENUE 

 
13. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT AND OTHER 

EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS AT ARTESIAN PARK LOCATED AT 10 E. SHERIDAN PLACE AND BLAIR 
PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE 

 
14. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS INCLUDING THE 

RELOCATION OF DUMPSTERS AND A FENCE FOR CENTER AVENUE PARTNERS LOCATED AT 61 
E. SCRANTON AVENUE 

 
15. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF BY 

ADOPTING CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT PLANNING PRINCIPLES 
 

16. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S FRONT YARD SETBACK 
REGULATIONS (225 West Center Avenue) 

 
17. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LYFT HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC TO 

OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS FACILITY AT 960 NORTH SHORE DRIVE, UNIT #6 IN THE 
VILLAGE’S L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT 
 

18. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
19. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
20. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 

  
 
 
 
 
 



  
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

JULY 11, 2016 
                                                                                                     

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
Eric Grenier  
John Josephitis 

     William Meyer 
     
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director     
    Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    David Graf, Fire Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
    Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  
  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve the June 27, 2016 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes with 
the requested change from Village Administrator Drew Irvin to paragraph seven of page three. Trustee 
Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS  
 
President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

2 
 

 
There were no requests to address the Board. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
At the request of those present, Trustee Meyer moved to take Agenda Items #13, #15 and #16 then return 
to the regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a 
unanimous voice vote. 
 

6. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH LYNN MONTEI ASSOCIATES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A VILLAGE 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
President O’Hara reported in December 2010, following a community-wide engagement of various Lake 
Bluff stakeholders, the Village Board adopted Lake Bluff’s first ever Strategic Plan – an organizational 
blue print that has helped define the direction of the Village and assist in how resources have been 
allocated over the past five years. The Village President and Village Administrator believe this 
community-driven approach has served the Village well and both recommend taking a similar path to 
develop a new strategic plan for the next five years.  To that end, Village has solicited a proposal from 
Lynn Montei Associates (LMA) to facilitate an update and refresh to the community vision and design a 
strategy to achieve it. As you may recall, LMA facilitated the most recent strategic planning effort in late 
2010 and was very well received by the community and stakeholder participants.  The proposed scope of 
work includes but is not limited to the following components: 
 

 Engage a guidance team comprised of up to 10 diverse stakeholders for advice, guidance and to 
enhance stakeholder representation; 

 Conduct thought-leader interviews; 
 Host stakeholder workshop for system connection, visioning, data generation, etc.; 
 Perform analysis and plan development with a resident synthesis team; 
 Review the preliminary draft plan in Village Board Committee of the Whole meeting; 
 Host public review of the draft plan at an open-invitation community dialogue session; and 
 Design a dashboard of key outcomes and measures that will serve as a companion to the strategic 

plan. 
 
President O’Hara reported Village Staff recommends all elements of the proposal be authorized (except 
for the staff workshop component) which will result in an anticipated total cost of $22,350.  Village Staff 
believes this more robust scope of work (compared to the previous strategic planning facilitation 
engagement) is appropriate given it will provide (i) the opportunity for greater stakeholder participation 
and diversity and (ii) community created metrics to monitor plan implementation. 
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Ankenman moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

3 
 

 
7. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 515 CAMBRIDGE LANE 
 

President O’Hara reported the property located at 515 Cambridge Lane is currently comprised of two 
parcels - lot 7 (existing house) and parcel 1 of lot 8 (vacant parcel) of the Imperial Woods Subdivision.  
The easterly portion of the Property is vacant and currently under contract by Chris and Marguerite Burke 
(Petitioner) to purchase and build a new single-family house.  In order to build their new home the 
Petitioner has requested the Village consider a final plat of subdivision that transfers approximately 56 sq. 
ft. of land and provides 26.1 ft. of additional frontage for a total frontage along a public street of 35.92 ft. 
for the purpose of constructing a new driveway off of Cambridge Lane.  Both lot 7 and parcel 1 of lot 8 
maintain a lot area greater than the required minimum lot area of 65,340 sq. ft. (or 1.5 acres).  President 
O’Hara further reported the approval of the resolution is conditional upon the Village’s review and 
approval of private easements that are to be established between the Petitioner and the neighboring 
property owner to the east; these easements will run with the land and be recorded against the Property.  
Pursuant to Section 11-2-6B of the Village’s Subdivision Regulations, the sale or exchange of parcels of 
adjoining and contiguous land, with the approval of the Village Board, is exempt from the Subdivision 
Regulations, provided that the sale or exchange: (i) does not create any additional lots or reduce any lot to 
an area smaller than required by the Zoning Code, (ii) does not create any non-conforming  condition, and 
(iii) a correct survey is submitted showing dimensions and new square footage of lots or parcels involved 
and the location of any existing buildings.  Village Staff and Legal Counsel have confirmed the proposed 
subdivision complies with all of the previously noted exemptions.  
 
In addition, President O’Hara reported to subdivide the property and qualify for the exemption to the 
Village’s Subdivision Regulations, as well as construct a new single-family house, the Petitioner is 
requesting the following zoning relief: i) a variation from the minimum lot frontage requirements, ii)  a 
variation from the minimum lot width requirements, iii) a variation from the minimum accessory structure 
setback requirements, and iv) a variation to permit the existing accessory structure that is located on parcel 
1 of Lot 8 to remain without a principal structure.   

 
In response to a question from Trustee Grenier, Village Administrator Irvin stated besides the affirmative 
recommendation there were no other comments from the PCZBA.  
 
As there were no further questions from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Josephitis seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman, 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

8. ITEM #16 – AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM LOT FRONTAGE, LOT 
WIDTH AND ACCESSORY STRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS (515 Cambridge Lane) 

 
President O’Hara stated this agenda item is associated with the item previously discussed and stated the 
PCZBA conducted a public hearing and unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the 
following variations:  
 

 A 76% variation from the minimum lot frontage requirements of 150 ft. to permit a lot frontage of 
35.92 ft. for parcel 1 of Lot 8 (vacant parcel); 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

4 
 

 
 An 18% variation from the minimum lot width requirements of 150 ft. to permit a lot width of 123 

ft. for parcel 1 of Lot 8; 
 A 64% variation from the E-1 District minimum accessory structure setback requirements of 15 

ft. to allow an existing accessory structure (approximately 23 ft. in height) to encroach in the 
required side yard setback by 9.55 ft.; and 

 A variation to permit the existing accessory structure located on parcel 1 of Lot 8 to remain without 
a principal structure. 

 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to approve first reading of the 
ordinance. Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated the Petitioner is requesting a waiver of second reading, but has not 
submitted building plans for review. 
 
President O’Hara inquired of the request to waive second reading of the ordinance.  Mr. Christopher Burke 
stated the waiver would allow time to begin construction to complete the frame work before the winter 
months and advised the approval will allow the closing to move forward.  
 
Trustee Dewart moved to waive second reading of the ordinance.  Trustee Meyer seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

9. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORT FOR JULY 1-15, 2016 AND JUNE 2016 PAYROLL 
EXPENDITURES 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$303,196.55 for July 1-15, 2016. 
 
President O’Hara reported Expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $285,459.85 for 
June 2016. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $588,656.40. 
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to approve the Warrant Report.   
Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

10. ITEM #6B – JUNE 2016 FINANCE REPORT 
 

At President O’Hara’s request, Finance Director Susan Griffin provided a brief summary of the February 
2016 Finance Report highlighting major revenue sources and expenditures for the period: 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

5 
 

 
 Sales tax revenue for May 2015-March 2016 is $2.569 million which is $267,000 or 12% greater 

and home rule sales tax of $726,000 is $230,000 or 46% greater than the same period in 2014-
15;  

 Income tax revenue of $115,000 for May-June 2016 is 20% lower than the same period in 2015; 
 Building permit revenue is $123,000 and is $45,000, 57% greater than May-June 2015. 

 
Finance Director Griffin stated Staff continues to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess the 
implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax limitation 
changes, or pension reform become law. 

 
In a response to a comment from Trustee Christensen regarding the significance of this revenue stream, 
Finance Director Griffin stated that the income tax revenue is down 20% for May-June 2016 compared to 
the same period in the prior year and noted the income tax revenue is about $500,000 to $600,000.   

 
Trustee Meyer moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 

 
11. ITEM #7 – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  

 
Village Administrator Irvin thanked the Parade Committee for a wonderful parade.  He also thanked the 
Public Works Staff for their cleanup efforts after the event and the Police and Fire Departments for 
maintaining safety during the event.  In addition, he reported on the upcoming Criterium Bike Race and 
Block Party scheduled on July 23rd.  
 

12. ITEM #8 – VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no reported 
 

13. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
President O’Hara thanked the Police, Fire and Public Works Departments for their work in supporting the 
Fourth of July Parade. 
 
President O’Hara suggested the order of the meeting be amended to take agenda #14 in advance of the 
consent agenda.  There were no objections from the Village Board. 
 

14. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION TERMINATING THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT THAT CREATED THE LAKE AND MCHENRY COUNTIES FIRE 
DEPARTEMENTS SPECIALIZED RESPONSE TEAMS 
 
President O’Hara reported MABAS is a statewide mutual aid system which has been in existence since 
the late 1960s. Originally, MABAS was heavily rooted throughout northern Illinois but since September 
11th MABAS has rapidly grown throughout the State of Illinois as well as Wisconsin, Indiana and 
Michigan and parts of Iowa and Missouri. Day-to-day MABAS extra alarms are systematically designed 
to provide speed of response of emergency resources to the stricken community during an ongoing 
emergency. Declarations of Disaster provide a MABAS sustained system of response on top of daily 
mutual aid activations. President O’Hara reported today MABAS includes approximately 1,175 of the 
state’s 1,246 fire departments organized within 69 divisions. MABAS also offers specialized operations  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

6 
 

 
teams for hazardous materials (40 teams), underwater rescue/recovery (15 teams), technical rescue (39 
teams) and a state sponsored urban search and rescue team.  Late last year the Lake & McHenry Counties 
Fire Departments Specialized Response Teams (SRT) processed a governance change and, as of January  
 
1, 2016, it became the MABAS Divisions 4 & 5 SRT.  The goal of this governance change was to align 
the organization with the MABAS model to take advantage of available training, equipment and resource 
opportunities.  All SRT member units of government have been asked to pass a resolution acknowledging 
the cancellation of the current SRT organization.  The attached resolution (i) formally dissolves the current 
SRT organization by terminating the intergovernmental agreement that originally created it in 1996 and 
(ii) authorizes the Village Administrator to execute all necessary documents to effectuate the termination.   

 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Meyer 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

15. ITEM #10 AND #11 – CONSENT AGENDA 
 
President O’Hara introduced the following Consent Agenda items for consideration:   
 

10. Correspondence Delivered in the June 24 and July 1, 2016 Informational Reports; and  
11. A Resolution Approving an Illinois Elevator Safety Program Agreement and Authorizing Certain 

Elevator Safety Standards. 
 
Trustee Grenier moved to approve the Consent Agenda.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

16. ITEM #12 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF TWO FORD POLICE 
VEHICLES AND THE DECLARATION OF TWO CHEVROLET SQUAD CARS AS SURPLUS 
PROPERTY 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village’s FY2016-17 budget provides $65,000 in funding for the 
replacement of two police vehicles pursuant to the vehicle and equipment replacement schedule. The 
Suburban Purchasing Cooperative awarded the bid to Currie Motors of Frankfort, Illinois for Ford 
Interceptor (Taurus-style) police package vehicles in the amount of $24,683 per vehicle. In addition, it 
costs $6,000 to install standard police equipment in each vehicle.  The total cost for the two squad cars 
and required equipment installation is $61,366.   She further reported these Ford vehicles will replace two 
2012 Chevrolet Impala squad cars which have high mileage and require extensive repairs. The Police 
Chief and Finance Director recommend approval of the purchase of two Ford Interceptor police package 
vehicles and the declaration of two 2012 Chevrolet Impala vehicles as surplus property. 
 
Police Chief David Belmonte stated Chevrolet no longer make the Impala model (mid-sized sedan) police 
package.  Currently, Ford is the primary provider of police vehicles with Taurus and Explore platforms. 
He stated the Police Department’s current fleet consists of four sedans and two patrol SUVs. 
 
Trustee Dewart asked if the sedans would be replaced in the future.  Police Chief Belmonte stated the goal 
is to maintain a mixed fleet because both vehicles serve different purposes and noted the sedans are now 
equipped with all wheel drive and can be used during inclement weather. 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 27, 2016 

7 
 

 
Following a request from President O’Hara, Police Chief Belmonte provide information regarding the 
recent car burglaries which have occurred in the Village and the greater North Shore area.  He stated most 
of the vehicle burglaries involved unlocked cars and urged residents to lock their vehicles and keep 
valuables out of sight in locked trunks. 
 
As there were no further questions from the Board, Trustee Meyer moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

17. ITEM #17 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

18. ITEM #19 – CONSIDERATION OF THE JUNE 27, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 
MINUTES 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to approve the June 27, 2016 Executive Session Meeting Minutes as presented.  
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

19. ITEM #20 – ADJOURNMENT 
                                                                              
Trustee Meyer moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion and the 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 











































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
       Agenda Item: 7a 

 
 
Subject: 

 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT AND PRESENTATION FROM CROYA MANAGER 
TODD NAHIGIAN REGARDING CROYA PROGRAMS 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ACCEPT REPORT (Voice Vote) 

  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
The Committee Representing Our Young Adults (“CROYA”) is a youth-driven organization supported by Lake 
Forest and Lake Bluff community resources. The goal of the organization is to help young adults identify and 
meet their own needs, while learning values and self-worth. CROYA was established in 1980 for Lake Forest 
and Lake Bluff, in response to serious problems affecting teens of our communities during the mid to late ‘70s. 
Several teen suicides, escalating drug and alcohol abuse, hundreds of thousands of dollars in vandalism, and a 
teen gang called “The Losers” prompted community leaders to take action to address the needs of youth. 
CROYA is currently staffed by four adult youth workers, and partners with local social workers to provide 
counseling opportunities including a social worker/youth advocate.  In addition, students from Lake Forest 
College work part-time to help supervise youth programs.  Led by youth committees, CROYA offers weekly 
meetings, social activities, community service initiatives, educational programs, and retreats.  CROYA has been 
nationally recognized as a model for others looking to build successful youth/adult partnerships. 
 
On Monday night CROYA Manager Todd Nahigian will provide highlights of recent CROYA programs and  
introduce Tara Tuohy, who will read her winning essay in the “Spirit of CROYA” Essay Contest.  The “Spirit 
of CROYA” Essay Contest is for graduating seniors to share what being a part of CROYA has meant to them.  
The contest is voted on by their CROYA peers, and the scholarship winner receives a $1,500 prize toward their 
college education. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Acceptance of the report. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 7b 

 
 
 
Subject: 

REQUEST FROM THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT TO WAIVE 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF 
PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED IMPROVEMENTS 
IN ARTESIAN PARK AND BLAIR PARK 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST (Roll Call Vote) 

  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On July 19, 2016 the Village received the attached letter from Lake Bluff Park District Board 
President, Rob Douglass, requesting a waiver of all permit fees associated with the replacement 
of playground equipment and related improvements in Artesian Park and Blair Park.  As the total 
cost of construction of these two projects is $570,594, it is estimated that, without a waiver, the 
permit fees for these two projects would be $17,130. 
 
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and 
governmental organizations.    

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Letter Dated July 19, 2016. 
  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Request. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 
 



LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT               

________________________________________________________________ __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

355 W. WASHINGTON AVENUE * LAKE BLUFF, ILLINOIS 60044 

                                 Phone (847) 234-4150 

 

July 18, 2016 

 

 

Mr. Drew Irvin 

Village of Lake Bluff 

Village Administrator 

40 E. Center Avenue 

Lake Bluff, IL 60044 

 

Dear Drew: 

 

In 2014, the Lake Bluff Park District passed a referendum for specific community projects.  The 

Park District is planning construction of these valued assets in the Lake Bluff community 

beginning September.  The Park District is respectfully requesting a waiver of all permit fees 

associated with the following capital/construction projects: 

 

1. Reconstruction of the Artesian Park Playground and Paths with an anticipated budget of 

$376,761. 

2. Reconstruction of the Blair Park Playground and Paths with an anticipated budget of 

$193,833.   

 

On behalf of the Park District, thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Rob Douglass 

Board President 

 

cc:  Board of Commissioners 

       Ron Salski, Executive Director 

 

 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 11  

 

Subject: 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR 
INOVASI RESTAURANT LOCATED AT 28 E. CENTER AVENUE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
INOVASI RESTAURANT 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

Inovasi Restaurant is proposing to add an awning over their front door on Scranton Avenue.  The 
awning would be 74” wide and 41” tall with a 24” projection out from the face of the building.  
It would be made of forest green canvas with the word “Inovasi” in white letters on all three 
sides of the valence. 

The sign code limits a business to one awning sign, so an exemption would be required for the 
applicant to have three.  A similar exemption was recently granted to Hansa Coffee. 

The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) reviewed the proposed awning and signs at its July 
12, 2016 meeting and recommended that the Village Board approve it.  

In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting 
the ABR’s recommendation. 

The Ron Oesterlein of Center Avenue Partners, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at 
the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Sign Exemption Request For Inovasi Restaurant At 28 

E. Center Avenue 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Awning; and 
3. A copy of the July 12, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST  
FOR 28 E CENTER AVENUE  

(Inovasi Restaurant) 
 

  WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Village's Municipal Code, the 
Village Board may grant or deny a request for an exemption from the Village's sign regulations 
following a recommendation from the Architectural Board of Review; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Center Avenue Partners, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the 
property located at 28 E Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the Village’s 
CBD Central Business District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code limits businesses located 

in the Central Business Zoning District to one awning sign; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of three awning signs 
(collectively, "Signs") on the Property” ("Exemption Request"); and, 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the 

Architectural Board of Review considered the Exemption Request at its public meeting on July 
12, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of Review recommended that the Village Board 
approve the Exemption Request; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, on or before July 15, July 7, 2016, the Village Administrator caused 
notice to be given to the owners of all property contiguous to or directly across the public right-
of-way from the Property of the nature of the Exemption Request and the address of the 
Property; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the Village 
President and Board of Trustees have determined that granting the Exemption Request as 
recommended by the Architectural Board of Review is appropriate due to the special and unique 
circumstances presented by the Property, will not defeat the fundamental purposes and intent of 
Section 10-10-1 of the Municipal Code, and will not be detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to the property in the vicinity of the Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the President and 
Board of Trustees. 

 

Section 2. Approval of Sign Exemption and Repeal of Resolution. 
 

  Pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
and subject to and contingent upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this 
Resolution, the Village President and Board of Trustees hereby approve the Exemption Request 
to permit the Applicant to install three awning signs on the Property in strict compliance with the 
plans submitted to the Village by the Applicant on July 7, 2016, consisting of one page, which 
plans are attached to and incorporated in this Resolution as Exhibit A ("Plans").   
 

Section 3. Conditions on Sign Exemption Approval. 
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 2

The approval granted in Section 2 of this Resolution is hereby subject to and 
contingent upon the following conditions: 

 
A. Compliance with Plans.  The installation, design, and maintenance of the 

Sign must be in strict compliance with the Plans.   
 

B. Compliance with Laws.   In addition to the other specific requirements of 
this Resolution, the Sign must comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village 
statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, 
and fire prevention codes. 
 
  Section 4. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; and 

ii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Resolution.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 4.A (ii) of this Resolution within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Resolution, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Resolution null and void and of no force or 
effect.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 3

 

PASSED this ___ day of July, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  ()    
 
NAYS:  ()  
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 
APPROVED this __ day of July, 2016. 
 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Village Clerk 

  

#39922819_v1 



 4

Exhibit A 

Plans 



 5

Exhibit B 
Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, WHEREAS, Center Avenue Partners, LLC ("Applicant") is the 
owner of the property located at 28 E Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the 
the Village’s CBD Central Business District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code limits businesses located 

in the Central Business Zoning District to one awning sign; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of three awning signs 
(collectively, "Signs") on the Property” ("Exemption Request"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016-__, adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _______, 2016, (“Resolution”) grants the Exemption 
Request subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 4.B of the Resolution provides, among other things, that 
the Resolution will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Resolution, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Resolution. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Resolution, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s issuance of 
any such permits does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant against 
damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Sign or the Village’s 
adoption of the Resolution granting the Exemption Request. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 

 



 2

Dated: ____________, 2016. 
       CENTER AVENUE PARTNERS, LLC 
 
By:       By:      
 
Its:       Its:      



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 12  

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN TO ADD NEW 
LIGHTS ON THE LAKE BLUFF FIRE STATION AT 45 E CENTER 
AVENUE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Currently, there is only one light over the Fire Department bay doors on the front of the building 
and one over the bay doors on the back of the building.  Since the Fire Department does a lot of 
practice outdoors in the evening in these areas, more light is needed.  Two years ago, four 
electrical boxes were installed in the brick walls next to and between the doors on the front of the 
building. The Village proposes to install the light fixture shown in the attached specification 
sheet at each of the four boxes and also in similar locations on the back of the building. 

The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) conducted a public hearing to review the proposed 
work at its July 12, 2016 meeting and recommended that the Village Board approve it.  
 
The neighboring property owners were notified of the public hearing.  In preparation for the 
Village Board’s consideration of the request, a resolution has been prepared transmitting the 
ABR’s recommendation.  
 
Village Staff will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Site Plan To Add New Lights On The Lake Bluff Fire 

Station At 45 E Center Avenue; 
2. Proposed Light Fixture Specification Sheet;  
3. Elevation View of Front of the Fire Station;  
4. Elevation View of Rear of the Fire Station;  
5. Aerial Photo of Fire Station; and 
6. A copy of the July 12, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN 
TO ADD NEW LIGHTS TO THE FIRE STATION 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff (“Applicant”) operates and maintains the 

Fire Station, located at 45 E Center Avenue in Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”); and, 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in the R-3 Single Family Residence 
District under the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations; and, 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of building permits and a 
related site plan for certain improvements on the Property, including new lights 
(“Improvements”), which Improvements will require revisions to the approved site plan; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Improvements are depicted on the plans prepared by the 

Applicant attached to this Resolution as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and,  
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Zoning Regulations, the Village 
of Lake Bluff Architectural Board of Review considered and reviewed the Site Plan at a public 
hearing on July 12, 2016; and,  

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-1-9 of the Zoning Regulations, the Village 

President and Board of Trustees have determined that it would be in the best interest of the 
Village to approve the Site Plan as set forth in the attached Exhibit A and in accordance with, 
and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Resolution and the Zoning 
Regulations.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 
Section 1. Recitals. 

 
The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Resolution 

as findings of the Village Board. 
 
Section 2. Public Hearing. 
 
A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for approval of the Site Plan 

was duly noticed pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Village's Zoning Regulations and held by 
the Architectural Board of Review on July 12, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of 
Review recommended that the Village Board approve the Site Plan. 

 
Section 3. Approval of the Site Plan. 
 
In accordance with the standards and procedures in Section 10-2-8D of the 

Zoning Regulations, and subject to and contingent upon the conditions in Section 4 of this 
Resolution, the Site Plan is approved pursuant to Subsection 10-2-8C of the Zoning Regulations 
and the home rule powers of the Village. 

 
Section 4. Conditions. 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



2 
 

 
The approval granted in Section 3 of this Resolution is subject to and contingent 

upon each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 
 

A. Compliance with the Site Plan.  Except for minor changes and site work 
approved by the Village Building Commissioner or Village Engineer in accordance with 
applicable Village standards, the installation, use, and maintenance of the Improvements on the 
Property must be in substantial compliance with the Site Plan. In the event of any conflict 
between the Special Use Permit and the Site Plan concerning the construction and location of 
the Improvements, the Site Plan will control. 

 
B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 

requirements of this Resolution, the Property must comply at all times with all applicable federal, 
state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including 
without limitation the Village's building, electrical, and fire prevention codes, and the Special 
Use Permit. 

 
 Section 5. Effect of Approval. 

 
Pursuant to Section 10-2-8E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the approval 

granted pursuant to Section 3 of this Resolution shall not authorize the establishment or 
extension of any use, nor the development, construction, reconstruction, alteration, or moving of 
any buildings or structures, but shall merely authorize the preparation, filing, and processing of 
applications for any permits or approvals that may be required by the codes and ordinances of 
the Village, including, without limitation, building permits. 

 
Section 6. Amendments. 
 
Any amendments to the Site Plan approved in Section 3 of this Resolution may 

be granted only pursuant to the procedures, and subject to the standards and limitations, 
provided in the Zoning Regulations. 

 
Section 7. Effective Date. 

 
This Resolution will be effective only upon passage by the President and Board 

of Trustees in the manner required by law.  

 
PASSED this ___ day of July, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  () 
  
NAYS:  () 
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
APPROVED this ___ day of July, 2016. 
 



3 
 

 
_________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
 

 



 

Exhibit A 

Site Plan  
 

 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2







Lights
Lights to be added on wall below arrows

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



Lights  to be added on wall below arrows

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

mcroak
Line

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4



Imagery ©2016 DigitalGlobe, U.S. Geological Survey, Map data ©2016 Google 50 ft

Page 1 of 1Google Maps

7/20/2016https://www.google.com/maps/@42.27843,-87.8447193,185m/data=!3m1!1e3

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 5



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 6



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 13  

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR PLAYGROUND 
EQUIPMENT AND OTHER EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS AT 
ARTESIAN PARK AND BLAIR PARK, 10 E SHERIDAN PLACE AND 
355 W WASHINGTON AVENUE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
The Lake Bluff Park District proposes to replace playground equipment at Blair and Artesian 
Parks and make other alterations that include pathways, berms, benches, and, at Artesian Park, 
an area for tables and chairs. 
 
The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) conducted a public hearing to review the proposed 
work at its July 12, 2016 meeting and recommended that the Village Board approve it.  
 
The neighboring property owners were notified of the public hearing.  In preparation for the 
Village Board’s consideration of the request, a resolution has been prepared transmitting the 
ABR’s recommendation.  
 
Blair Park currently operates under a Special Use Permit that requires Site Plan approval of 
exterior changes.  The Park District intends to pursue Institutional Zoning for the parks when 
that zoning district is created. 
 
The Ed Heiser, Superintendent of Facility Services, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance 
at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving A Site Plan For Playground Equipment And Other 

Exterior Alterations At Artesian Park And Blair Park, 10 E Sheridan Place And 355 W 
Washington Avenue 

2. Drawings of the Proposed Playground Equipment; and 
3. A copy of the July 12, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN 
FOR PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT AND OTHER EXTERIOR ALTERATIONS 

 
(Lake Bluff Park District - Blair Park and Artesian Park)  

 
WHEREAS, the Lake Bluff Park District (“Applicant”) operates and maintains the 

existing park district areas and facilities commonly known as Blair Park and Artesian Park, 
located in Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in the “E-1,” “R-1,” "R-2", and R-3 
Single Family Residence Districts under the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the use, operation, and maintenance of the Blair Park is subject to a 
special use permit granted by the Village (“Special Use Permit") which requires changes to the 
approved site plan to be reviewed by the Architectural Board of Review and approved by the 
Village Board; and 

WHEREAS, the use and operation of Artesian Park is as an existing 
nonconforming use under the Village’s Zoning Regulations, and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of building permits and a 
related site plan for certain existing improvements on the Property, including playground 
equipment (“Improvements”), which Improvements will require revisions to the approved site 
plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Improvements are depicted on the plans prepared by the 

Applicant attached to this Resolution as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and  
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Zoning Regulations, the Village 
of Lake Bluff Architectural Board of Review considered and reviewed the Site Plan at a public 
hearing on July 12, 2016; and  

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-1-9 of the Zoning Regulations, the Village 

President and Board of Trustees have determined that it would be in the best interest of the 
Village to approve the Site Plan as set forth in the attached Exhibit A and in accordance with, 
and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Resolution and the Zoning 
Regulations;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 
Section 1. Recitals. 

 
The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Resolution 

as findings of the Village Board. 
 
Section 2. Public Hearing. 
 
A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for approval of the Site Plan 

was duly noticed pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Village's Zoning Regulations and held by 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



2 
 

the Architectural Board of Review on July 12, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of 
Review recommended that the Village Board approve the Site Plan. 

 
Section 3. Approval of the Blair Park Site Plan. 
 
In accordance with the standards and procedures in Section 10-2-8D of the 

Zoning Regulations, and subject to and contingent upon the conditions in Section 4 of this 
Resolution, the Site Plan for Blair Park is approved pursuant to Subsection 10-2-8C of the 
Zoning Regulations and the home rule powers of the Village. 

 
Section 4. Approval of the Artesian Park Site Plan. 
 
In accordance with the standards and procedures in Section 10-2-8D of the 

Zoning Regulations, and subject to and contingent upon the conditions in Section 4 of this 
Resolution, the Site Plan for Artesian Park is approved pursuant to Subsection 10-2-8C of the 
Zoning Regulations and the home rule powers of the Village. 

 
 
Section 5. Conditions. 
 
The approval granted in Section 3 of this Resolution is subject to and contingent 

upon each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 
 

A. Compliance with the Site Plan.  Except for minor changes and site work 
approved by the Village Building Commissioner or Village Engineer in accordance with 
applicable Village standards, the installation, use, and maintenance of the Improvements on the 
Property must be in substantial compliance with the Site Plan. In the event of any conflict 
between the Special Use Permit and the Site Plan concerning the construction and location of 
the Improvements, the Site Plan will control. 

 
B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 

requirements of this Resolution, the Property must comply at all times with all applicable federal, 
state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including 
without limitation the Village's building, electrical, and fire prevention codes, and the Special 
Use Permit. 

 
 Section 6. Effect of Approval. 

 
Pursuant to Section 10-2-8E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the approval 

granted pursuant to Section 3 of this Resolution shall not authorize the establishment or 
extension of any use, nor the development, construction, reconstruction, alteration, or moving of 
any buildings or structures, but shall merely authorize the preparation, filing, and processing of 
applications for any permits or approvals that may be required by the codes and ordinances of 
the Village, including, without limitation, building permits. 

 
Section 7. Amendments. 
 
Any amendments to the Site Plan approved in Section 3 of this Resolution may 

be granted only pursuant to the procedures, and subject to the standards and limitations, 
provided in the Zoning Regulations. 

 



3 
 

Section 8. Effective Date. 
 

This Resolution will be effective only upon passage by the President and Board 
of Trustees in the manner required by law.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
PASSED this ___ day of ______________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  () 
  
NAYS:  () 
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 
APPROVED this ___ day of _____________, 2016. 
 
 
        

Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
 

 



 

Exhibit A 

Site Plan  
 

 















cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 14  

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR EXTERIOR 
ALTERATIONS INCLUDING THE RELOCATION OF 
DUMPSTERS AND A FENCE FOR CENTER AVENUE PARTNERS 
LOCATED AT 61 E SCRANTON AVENUE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
CENTER AVENUE PARTNERS 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Center Avenue Partners, the owner of the building at the southeast corner of Center Avenue and 
Scranton Avenue, is proposing to remove the dumpsters from the east end of their parking lot in 
order to make the Scranton Alley an even more attractive space. They would expand their 
western dumpster enclosure from the existing 16’-10” x 5’-8” size to 20’-8” x 6’-8” in order to 
accommodate an additional dumpster in that enclosure. They would also have more frequent 
pickups so that fewer dumpsters overall would be needed. 
 
The expanded dumpster enclosure would consist of a fence of the same height and appearance as 
the existing fence.  The existing sign post would be removed. 
 
The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) conducted a public hearing to review the proposed 
work at its July 12, 2016 meeting and recommended that the Village Board approve it.  
 
The neighboring property owners were notified of the public hearing.  In preparation for the 
Village Board’s consideration of the request, a resolution has been prepared transmitting the 
ABR’s recommendation.  
 
The Ron Oesterlein of Center Avenue Partners, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at 
the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Site Plan For Exterior Alterations Including the 

Relocation of Dumpsters and a Fence for Center Avenue Partners at 61 E Scranton Avenue 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Alterations; and 
3. A copy of the July 12, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



 

1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A REVISED SITE PLAN  
 

(Center Avenue Partners – 61 E Scranton Avenue)  
 

WHEREAS, Center Avenue Partners ("Owner") is the owner of the property located 
at 61 E Scranton Avenue within the Village’s Central Business District (CBD) Zoning District  
("Property"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to construct certain improvements to the Property 
("Improvements"), including: the removal of dumpsters and fence from the east end of the parking 
lot and the expansion of the fenced dumpster enclosure on the west end of the parking lot as shown 
on the Plans attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A (collectively, the "Site 
Plan"); and, 

 
WHEREAS, at its regular meeting on July 12, 2016, the Village of Lake Bluff 

Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) conducted a public hearing concerning the Site Plan. On that 
date, the ABR recommended that the Village approve the Site Plan Amendments; and,  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Zoning Regulations, the Village Administrator caused 

written notice to be mailed to the owners of all property contiguous to, or directly across the public 
right-of-way from the Property; and,  

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in 

the best interests of the Village and its residents to approve the Site Plan in accordance with, and 
subject to, the provisions of this Resolution. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 
The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the President and Board 

of Trustees. 
 
Section 2. Public Hearing on the Site Plan Amendments. 
 
A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for approval of the Site Plan was 

duly noticed pursuant to the Zoning Regulations on or before July 5, 2016 and held by the 
Architectural Board of Review on July 12, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of Review 
recommended that the Village Board approve the Site Plan. 

 
Section 3. Approval of the Site Plan. 
 
Subject to and contingent on the conditions, restrictions, and provisions set forth in 

Section 5 of this Ordinance, the President and Board of Trustees, pursuant to Section 10-2-8 of the 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 

2 
 

Zoning Regulations, hereby approve the Site Plan Amendments as depicted in the plans prepared 
by the Applicant,  attached to and incorporated in this Resolution as Exhibit A ("Plans").   

 
Section 4. Conditions. 
 

  A. Compliance with Site Plan. Except for minor changes and site work approved 
by the Village Building Commissioner or Village Engineer in accordance with applicable Village 
standards, the Improvements, must be located, constructed, installed, and maintained in substantial 
compliance with the Plans. 
 
  B. Compliance with Applicable Law. In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Resolution, the Property and all operations conducted thereon must comply at 
all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, 
codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention codes.  
 
  C. No Construction until Final Approval. Except as otherwise authorized by the 
Village Administrator, no erection, installation or maintenance of the Improvements, will be 
permitted unless and until this Resolution becomes effective pursuant to Section 9. 
 
  Section 6. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 
 
  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant or Owner or any of their officers, employees, 
or agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Resolution, 
the approval granted in this Resolution shall, at the sole discretion of the President and Board of 
Trustees, by resolution duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void.  
 
  Section 7. Binding Effect.   
 
  The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every section and 
requirement of this Resolution are for and will inure to the benefit of the Applicant, unless otherwise 
expressly provided in this Resolution.  
 
  Section 8. No Third Party Beneficiaries. 
 

Nothing in this Resolution creates, or will be construed or interpreted to create, any 
third party beneficiary rights.  

 
Section 9.  Effective Date. 

 
A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of the following 

events: 
 

i. passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner 
required by law; and  
 

ii. the filing by the Applicant and Owner with the Village Clerk of an 
unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of 



 

3 
 

the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in this Resolution in the form 
attached as Exhibit B and, by this reference, made a part of this Resolution. 
 

B. In the event that the Applicant and Owner do not file with the Village a fully 
executed copy of the unconditional agreement and consent required under Section 9.A.ii within 60 
days after the date of passage of this Resolution, then, at the option of the Village Board of 
Trustees, this Resolution shall be rendered null and void and of no force or effect.  

 
PASSED this __ day of July, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, as 
follows: 
 
AYES:  ( )  
NAYS:  ( ) 
ABSTAIN: ( ) 
ABSENT: ( )  
APPROVED this __ day of July, 2016. 

 
 
______________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
 
 



 

4 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 PLANS 



 

5 
 

 EXHIBIT B 
 
 UNCONDITIONAL AGREEMENT AND CONSENT 
 
TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (the "Village"):  
 

WHEREAS, Center Avenue Partners ("Owner") is the owner of the property located 
at 61 E Scranton Avenue within the Village’s Central Business District (CBD) Zoning District  
("Property"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant desires to construct certain improvements to the Property 
("Improvements"), including: the removal of dumpsters and fence from the east end of the parking 
lot and the expansion of the fenced dumpster enclosure on the west end of the parking lot as shown 
on the Plans (collectively, the "Site Plan"); and, 

 
WHEREAS, at its regular meeting on July 12, 2016, the Village of Lake Bluff 

Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) conducted a public hearing concerning the Site Plan. On that 
date, the ABR recommended that the Village approve the Site Plan Amendments and the Sign 
Exemption Request; and,  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Zoning Regulations, the Village Administrator caused 

written notice to be mailed to the owners of all property contiguous to, or directly across the public 
right-of-way from the Property, and,  
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016- , adopted by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village on ________ __, 2016, grants approval for the Site Plan Amendments and the Sign 
Exemption Request, subject to certain conditions; and 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016- __ provides that the Resolution will be of no force 
or effect unless and until the Applicant and Owner shall have filed with the Village Clerk, within 60 
days after passage of the Resolution its unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide 
by each of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in the Resolution; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, the Applicant and Owner do hereby agree and covenant as 
follows: 
 

1. Applicant and Owner hereby unconditionally agree to, accept, consent to 
and abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of that 
certain Resolution No. 2016-__, adopted by the Village Board of Trustees on 
______ __, 2016 (the "Resolution"). 

 
2. Applicant and Owner acknowledge and agree that the Village is not and 

shall not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be 
sustained as a result of the Village's issuance of any permits for the use of 
the Property, and that the Village's issuance of any such permits does not, 
and shall not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant or Owner 
against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

 



 

6 
 

3. Applicant and Owner acknowledge that the public notices and hearings have 
been properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, 
have considered the possibility of the revocation provided for in the 
Resolution, and agree not to challenge any such revocation on the grounds 
of any procedural infirmity or any denial of any procedural right. 

 
4. Applicant and Owner agree to and hereby hold harmless and indemnify the 

Village, the Village's corporate authorities, and all Village elected and 
appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, and 
attorneys, from and against any and all claims that may, at any time, be 
asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Village's 
adoption of the Resolution.  

 
 
ATTEST:      Center Avenue Partners, LLC  
       
 
By: _______________________________ By: _____________________________ 
 
Its: _______________________________ Its: _____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to 
before me this _______ day of 
___________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
Notary Public 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2







cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 

                               Agenda Item: 15 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF BY ADOPTING CENTRAL BUSINESS 
DISTRICT PLANNING PRINCIPLES  

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE (Voice Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
PLAN COMMISSION AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
In the first half of 2015 the Committee-of-the-Whole (COW) and Staff discussed the potential for 
redevelopment of the Central Business District (CBD) Blocks Two (bounded by 
Scranton/Oak/North/Walnut) and Three (bounded by Scranton/Oak/Evanston).  To best prepare for 
potential downtown redevelopment, the Village engaged Teska Associates, Inc. (Consultant), a land use 
planning firm, to perform a visual preference survey of both CBD Blocks Two and Three, and using input 
from the community, prepare Design Guidelines.   
 
In October 2015 the Village Board received a report from the Village Administrator concerning the draft 
Downtown Sub-Area Visioning Report (Report) with Design Guidelines and the Village Board referred 
the matter to the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) and the Architectural Board 
of Review (ABR) for finalization.  The ABR has concluded its review of the Design Guidelines, and as 
part of its consideration, the PCZBA conducted a public hearing on May 18 and June 8, 2016 and 
recommended the Village Board amend the Village’s Comprehensive Plan by (i) adopting the Ten 
Planning Principles for CBD Blocks Two and Three that are identified in the Report (Exhibit A); (ii) 
amending the Village’s Future Land Use Plan to reflect the Ten Planning Principles and an update that 
reflects existing conditions (Exhibit B); and (iii) amending the Village’s Long Range Downtown Public 
Parking Plan for consistency with the aforementioned documents (Exhibit C).   
 
Village Staff will be in attendance to address questions from the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Ordinance Amending the Comprehensive Plan (with exhibits);  
2. PCZBA Staff Reports (without attachments) Dated May 13 and June 3, 2016; 
3. PCZBA Meeting Minutes (will be distributed in a supplemental packet on Friday); and 
4. Ordinance 99-5 Amending the Comprehensive Plan to Include a CBD Land Use Plan and Related 

Documents. 
 

PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Consider Approval of the Ordinance. 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consider First Reading Approval of the Ordinance.  
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 































  VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

SPCIAL MEETING  
 

 JUNE 8, 2016 
 

APPROVED MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order the special meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of 
Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Wednesday, June 8, 2016, at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Sam Badger 
  David Burns 

Mary Collins 
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters   
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
Absent: Leslie Bishop, Member 
 
Also Present: Andrew Fiske, Village Attorney  
  Drew Irvin, Village Administrator   
  Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA) 
 

2. Approval of the May 18, 2016 PCZBA Regular Meeting Minutes 
Member Miller moved to approve the May 18, 2016 PCZBA Meeting Minutes with changes 
requested by  Mark Stolzenberg (resident). Member Collins seconded the motion. The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

4. Continuation of a Public Hearing to Consider Amending the Village of Lake Bluff 
Comprehensive Plan Concerning: i) the Downtown Land Use Plan (dated November 17, 
1998), ii) Planning Principles for Central Business District Block Two (bounded by East 
Scranton Avenue, Walnut Avenue, East North Avenue and Oak Avenue) and Central 
Business District Block Three (bounded by East Scranton Avenue, Oak Avenue, East North 
Avenue and Evanston Avenue) 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and noted the Comprehensive Plan must go through a 
public hearing process to be amended. 
 
Chair Kraus asked the audience to refrain from any outburst as it detracts from the issues being 
discussed.  Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing. 
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – June 8, 2016 

 

 2

Mr. Paul Lemieux (resident) expressed his opposition to the proposed Future Land Use Map regarding 
the planning of a municipal parking lot at 131 E. Scranton Avenue the lot immediately to the east of 
the Library.  He stated allowing 131 E. Scranton Avenue to serve as a parking lot is not transitional 
from downtown to single-family neighborhood.  He asked the civic use designation for 131 E. 
Scranton Avenue be removed and the lot retain its current designation as single-family residential. 
 
Member Collins stated she is not in favor of designating 131 E. Scranton Avenue as a parking lot 
because it does not provide a good transition to the residential area to the east. 
 
Member Peters expressed his support for maintaining the lot as single-family residential as well.      
 
Following a discussion, Chair Kraus expressed his support for maintaining the single-family 
residential use.  It was the consensus of the PCZBA to identify the strip of land immediately south of 
the Library building as future parking.  The PCZBA also suggested the Village review alternative 
future land uses in the CBD. 
 
Chair Kraus stated tonight’s discussion is regarding i) the proposed amendments to the Future Land 
Use Plan, ii) the proposed amendments to the Long Range Downtown Public Parking Plan, and iii) the 
Ten Planning Principles for CBD Block Two and Block Three. 
 
Ms. Robin McAfee (resident) expressed her concern regarding the Future Land Use Plan and that it 
allows for multi-family residential within a predominately single-family neighborhood. Currently, 
there are nine properties in the brown area that are single-family and not multi-family or rental 
properties. She expressed concern for putting all multi-family properties together instead of 
distributing them throughout the community. 
 
Member Badger stated the brown areas are currently consistent with the Village’s R-5 Zoning District.  
He asked if both single and multi-family are permitted in the R-5 District and asked if the effort is to 
be more consistent with the existing zoning. 
 
A to VA Brandon Stanick stated the Future Downtown Land Use Plan was amended in 1999 after the 
adoption of the Comprehensive Plan in 1997.  Teska conducted an extensive review process of the 
downtown planning area in 1998 and 1999.  He reviewed the changes that have occurred in the 
downtown that are not reflected in the Future Downtown Land Use Plan.  The blue lot at the southwest 
corner of Walnut and North Avenue was designated as multi-family (brown) but now it exists as a 
parking lot.  The lot directly across is green because of the open space maintained by the Village.  The 
Post Office which rents the space, was designated a civic use but the plan now reflects mixed use as 
this is commercial space. The former PNC Bank parcel (Block Three) was business to accommodate 
the former bank and now the recommendation is to change the use to multi-family. The condominiums 
on the corner next to Village Hall which was planned multi-family/office use have changed to make it 
multi-family as it is currently used today.  
 
Member Miller inquired why the multi-family use along the north side of North Avenue should remain 
next to single-family homes.  Village Administrator Drew Irvin stated the area was developed multi-
family because of its close proximity to the Metra Train Station.  He stated as best practices 
automobile usage is reduced when there is greater walkability to public transportation.  A discussion 
regarding future land use changes ensued. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated the existing multi-family zoning district is relatively small in terms 
of land area and similar to the land area occupied by the former Armour Estate in the Tangley Oaks 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – June 8, 2016 

 

 3

Subdivision.  There is not much land area dedicated to multi-family in the Village and a goal of the 
Village’s Strategic Plan is to have housing products and types that serve the community through 
multiple stages of life. 
 
Member Burns expressed his understanding there is a specific difference regarding the Existing 
Downtown Land Use Map and the Existing Future Land Use Plan.  He noted the Village Zoning Map 
already designates this area as multi-family residential. 
 
A to VA Stanick stated there are single-family homes currently in the R-5 District and confirmed the 
future land use plan is consistent with the multi-family zoning on the Village’s zoning map. 
 
Ms. McAfee (resident) expressed her opposition to the Village’s current zoning of multi-family 
residential north of the downtown. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated that single-family and multi-family residential are both permitted 
uses in the R-5 District.  He also stated multi-family does not always have to be renter occupied 
housing. 
 
Mr. Tom McAfee (resident) asked why multi-family has to be clustered in one area instead of being 
distributed throughout the Village.  Mr. McAfee stated to take a block that is largely single-family 
(yellow) and change it to multi-family (brown) without any information besides a document from 
1998 is inconsistent.  He expressed his belief that many of the principles that past plans were based on 
have changed. 
 
Chair Kraus advised that both single and multi-family uses are permitted in the R-5 District.  The 
overall vision for the Village has been to have multi-family in this area. 
 
Member Collins expressed her belief the Zoning Code is more likely to drive future development.  She 
stated the R-5 District has different requirements than the rest of east Lake Bluff. 
 
Member Miller expressed interest in reviewing whether the R-5 District should be rezoned to single-
family use. 
 
Member Badger expressed his preference not to change the future land use along North Avenue and 
Washington Avenue at this time. 
 
Chair Kraus stated that changing any underlying zoning will first need to be studied along with the 
entire Village.  He expressed his agreement with Member Badger noting the matter needs to be 
reviewed in the future in a more comprehensive manner before recommending any changes. 
 
Member Peters stated a compromise could be to zone the north half of North Avenue as single-family 
and leave the south half of Washington Avenue multi-family. 
 
It was the consensus of the PCZBA to study the single and multi-family zoning districts in the future. 
 
Mr. Chris Volkert (resident) suggested the PCZBA consider using the existing Public Safety Building 
property for future multi-family housing. 
 
Mr. Mark Stolzenberg (resident) stated his home was built in the 1990’s after the Comprehensive 
Plan was adopted and he recently learned there was a proposal to construct a multi-family 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – June 8, 2016 

 

 4

development on his neighboring properties along the north side of North Avenue that failed.  He 
stated when considering the Future Downtown Land Use Plan the Village may not have been 
consistent with what was approved a few years before.      
 
Mr. Lee Nysted (resident) stated the use for the property is now changing to multi-family although its 
not being rezoned.  Mr. Nysted distributed hard copies of his comments that he read aloud. 
 
In response to a comment from Mr. Nysted, Village Administrator Irvin explained the idea of going 
from commercial to multi-family use is a downzoning in terms of intensity from commercial to 
residential use.  He stated it is more difficult to transition from a commercial use to a single-family 
detached use. 
 
Ms. Jean Niemi (resident) suggested the Village consider the former PNC property for additional 
parking.   
 
As there were no further comments, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing. 
 
Chair Kraus summarized the decision before the PCZBA concerning its consideration of a 
recommendation to the Village to amend the Comprehensive Plan related to the following: i) 
revisions to the Future Downtown Land Use Plan, ii) revisions to the Long Range Downtown 
Public Parking Plan, and iii) adopting the Ten Planning Principles from the Downtown Visioning 
Study for CBD Blocks Two and Three.   
   
Member Collins expressed interest in having a trigger to review the R-5 District.  Chair Kraus 
stated he is comfortable with reviewing the R-5 Zoning and the land uses in the CBD. 
 
Chair Kraus requested the minutes reflect the PCZBA’s desire to reflect on all the points being 
submitted to the Village Board for consideration.   
 
Member Collins moved to recommend the Village Board approve the following amendments to 
the Comprehensive Plan related to the:  

i. Revisions to the Future Downtown Land Use Plan by designating: existing Walnut Parking 
Lot as a civic use (blue), southeast corner of Walnut/North as open space use (green), the 
northeast corner of Walnut/Scranton as mixed use (red), the westerly four parcels 
comprising Block III as multi-family residential use (brown) and the easterly most parcel 
of Block III as open space use (green), the lot immediately east of the Library as single-
family residential use (yellow), and the northwest corner of Oak/Center (Bluff 
Condominiums) as multi-family residential use (brown).   

ii. Revisions to the Long Range Downtown Public Parking Plan by: removing the off-street 
public parking use from the southeast corner Walnut/North, removing the off-street public 
parking use from the parcel along the south side of North Avenue that is three parcels west 
of Oak Avenue, and removing the off-street public parking use from the lot immediately to 
the east of the Library, however, maintain the off-street public parking use for the strip of 
land immediately south of the Library. 

iii. Acceptance of the following Ten Planning Principles identified for CBD Block Two and 
Block Three: 

a. Where Block Two abuts Scranton Ave, ground floor commercial uses, compatible 
with the CBD, should promote the pedestrian-oriented main street environment of 
Scranton Ave.; 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – June 8, 2016 

 

 5

b. Where Block Two abuts North Ave, residential uses with appropriate setbacks 
should be in character with and scaled to the surrounding neighborhoods; 

c. Block Three should be treated as a residential transition between the CBD to the 
west and scaled to the surrounding neighborhoods; 

d. Blocks Two and Three should make use of internal alleyways for service and 
loading with vehicular access from Oak Ave and/or Walnut Ave.; 

e. Off-street parking should be provided within building structures and behind 
building developments so as to be screened from public view; 

f. On-street parking should include parallel parking along Scranton Ave. Diagonal 
parking may be considered along Walnut Ave and Oak Ave.; 

g. There should be continuity of streetscape treatments along Scranton Ave and 
southern portions of Walnut and Oak Avenues that are reflective of the specific use, 
including, but not limited to, wide sidewalks, traditional light poles, in ground tree 
planters, and site furnishings as appropriate; 

h. Streetscape treatments along North Ave streetscape should be treated as an 
extension of the neighborhood street, including continuous sidewalks, parkways, 
and canopy tree plantings; 

i. Mature stands of trees and open spaces should be preserved; and 
j. Public gathering spaces are encouraged as are pedestrian ways that provide 

linkages between the development entrances, parking areas and surrounding CBD 
destinations. 

Member Miller seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
   
Ayes:  (6)  Peters, Badger, Burns, Collins, Miller and Chair Kraus  
Nays:  (0)   
Absent:  (1) Bishop 
 

5. Commissioner’s Report 
Chair Kraus reported the next regular PCZBA meeting is scheduled for June 15, 2016. 
 
A to VA Stanick provided an updated on the upcoming zoning petitions, as well as the CBD 
Block Three Redevelopment petition. 
 
Village Attorney Andrew Fiske stated the Block Three redevelopment public hearing will also 
include a text amendment to the Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned Mixed-Use 
Developments as a special use in the R-4, R-5 and CB Zoning Districts.  A discussion followed. 
 

6. Staff’s Report 
A to VA Stanick reported the PCZBA is scheduled to meet next week and then again on July 20th.  
 

7. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, Member Badger moved to adjourn 
the meeting.  Member Miller seconded the motion.  The meeting adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – June 8, 2016 

 

 6

Respectfully submitted,      
 
 
 
 
Brandon Stanick 
Assistant to the Village Administrator 



  VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

REGULAR MEETING  
 

 JUNE 15, 2016 
 

APPROVED MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order the regular meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board 
of Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Wednesday, June 15, 2016, at 7:00 p.m. in 
the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Sam Badger 
  Leslie Bishop 

David Burns 
Mary Collins (arrived late) 
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters   
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
Also Present: Peter Friedman, Village Attorney   
  Drew Irvin, Village Administrator  
  Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
  Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA) 
 

2. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

3. A Public Hearing to Consider the Following: i) a Text Amendment to the Village’s Zoning 
Regulations Establishing Regulations for Planned Mixed-Use Developments as a Special Use 
in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence District (R-5) and Central Business District 
(CBD); ii) a Special Use Permit for a Planned Mixed-Use Development to Permit the 
Construction and Maintenance of a 16 Unit Multi-Family Structure and Related 
Improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank Property); and 
iii) Any Other Zoning Relief as Required to Construct and Maintain the Development at the 
Property. 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and requested an update from Staff. 
 
A to VA Brandon Stanick announced additional seating was available in the Public Safety 
Building Community Room with a television for residents to watch the meeting live. Also, 
arrangements were made for anyone in the Public Safety Building that would like to make a 
statement during the public hearing portion.  
 
A to VA Stanick reported in May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke 
Group (Petitioner) seeking:  



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 2

 a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for Planned 
Mixed-Use Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C 
Residence District (R-5) and the Central Business District (CBD);  

 a special use permit for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit 
multi-family structure and related improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton 
Avenue (former PNC Bank property); and  

 any other zoning relief as required to construct and maintain the Development at the 
Property.   

 
A to VA Stanick reported the Petitioner’s application seeks approval to construct a planned 
development on a 0.76 acre (33,000 sq. ft.) parcel in Block Three of the CBD commonly known as 
the former PNC Bank property.  The application proposes a three story, 16 unit multi-family 
building with the third story set back from the second story building wall and fully-enclosed grade 
level parking for 32 spaces.  The Development also proposes vehicular access off of Oak Avenue 
and Evanston Avenue with a permeable paver drive along the full length of the north side of the 
Property.  According to the overall site plan, no existing trees will remain.  He reviewed the 
informational materials provided in the packet noting a memorandum from Village Engineer Jeff 
Hansen dated June 8, 2016 responds to the results of the Petitioner’s traffic study (performed by 
KLOA, Inc.) and stormwater requirements. A chart comparing the Development to the Village’s 
zoning regulations for CBD and the R-4 Residence District is also attached.  
 
A to VA Stanick stated a proposed draft ordinance amending the Village’s Zoning Code to 
establish a process and related regulations for the approval of PMDs prepared by Village Legal 
Counsel is also provided. Consistent with existing planned development regulations in the 
Village’s Zoning Code, the draft PMD regulations include: i) General Provisions, ii) Procedure, 
iii) Standards and Conditions, iv) Authority to Modify Regulations, v) Adjustments and 
Amendments to Approved Final Plans and vi) Application Requirements.  A to VA Stanick stated 
in summary, the draft PMD regulations include a two-phase review process with a required site 
plan review by the Architectural Board of Review following Final Plan approval considered by the 
PCZBA.  As the PCZBA is aware, traditional use, bulk, space and yard regulations may be relaxed 
to achieve Village objectives including, but not limited to, creative approaches to mixed-use 
development of land through the planned development process.   
 
A to VA Stanick stated should the PCZBA want to further consider the Development, it is 
recommended they consider the Petitioner’s responses to the Text Amendment Guiding Principles 
(to consider the draft PMD regulations), as well as the Standards and Conditions (Section 10-15-3) 
outlined in the draft PMD regulations to consider conceptual development plan approval.  He then 
reviewed the draft standards and conditions. 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman stated the PMD Ordinance is based on the Planned Commercial 
Development (PCD) regulations adopted at the time the Village approved the Target Retail Center 
Development.  The Village has used the zoning process not only for the Target PCD but also for 
Planned Residential Developments.  This was the basis for the proposed PMD text amendment 
being considered tonight. 
 
Village Attorney Friedman addressed the comments submitted by PCZBA Member Collins 
regarding the extent and timing of the ABR review in conjunction with the PCZBA’s review of a 
PMD proposal.  Additionally he addressed a comment by Member Collins regarding the 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 3

possibility of a super majority vote requirement and noted a super majority vote is only required 
by the Village Board on a negative recommendation concerning a zoning variation.  This is a 
policy decision for the PCZBA and Village Board, but would be a change in policy for the Village 
if used in the proposed PMD regulations. 
 
Village Attorney Friedman stated there are numerous standards a PMD must address during the 
review process.  He stated in reviewing the PCD regulations there are numerous provisions 
regarding how to address impact on neighboring properties.  There is a specific provision that was 
believed to be cumulative and ambiguous in either situation whether the PCZBA wanted to 
approve or deny a proposed PMD.  He stated, because he felt that the provision was ambiguous 
and unnecessary it wasn’t included in the draft PMD ordinance.  He stated he chose this action as 
the Village Attorney, and as a legal matter, felt the ordinance works better without the provision.  
He stated there are numerous provisions in the draft ordinance that protect the Village’s and 
PCZBA’s right to deny a proposed development, if the PCZBA and/or Village Board determine a 
proposed development adversely impacts neighboring properties.  He commented on the standards 
and conditions in the draft ordinance regarding impact on other property. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA received in their packets the input from the community and 
thanked the public for their comments. Chair Kraus reviewed the public hearing process and 
protocol for the meeting.  He stated the text amendment and special use permit, when considered 
for a vote, will be voted on independently of one another. 
 
Chair Kraus opened the floor to the PCZBA for questions concerning the materials provided in the 
packet.  
 
In response to a question from Member Miller, Village Attorney Friedman stated a proposed PMD 
does not have to be all residential as the text amendment was written to provide flexibility in 
allowing more than one use. Also, the proposed PMD applies throughout the CBD, R-5 District 
and R-4 District. 
 
Member Badger stated given the tenor of the proceedings he would prefer the deleted provision 
concerning the impact that a development may have on other property be put back into the draft 
ordinance. 
 
Member Bishop stated the document is worded to sound as if anything that does not work with the 
surrounding neighborhood could be a problem.  She asked if the Village could make any 
improvements to Block Three without going up against the provision regarding noncompliance 
with the surrounding neighborhood.  Village Attorney Friedman stated that would be a judgement 
call by the PCZBA and Village Board when considering if the proposal meets the applicable 
standards outlined as part of the PMD text amendment.  Village Attorney Friedman stated the 
special use and PMD process is designed to provide flexibility which allows the Village a lot of 
discretion. 
 
Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing.    
 
Mr. Peter Kyte, representative of The Roanoke Group (Petitioner), introduced the following 
individuals associated with the project: Mr. Eric Russell (Traffic consultant from KLOA, Inc.), 
Mr. Robert Hidey (Architect from Robert Hidey Architects) and Mr. Jerry Callahan (Legal 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 4

Counsel representing the Petitioner).  Mr. Kyte stated they have met with a group of residents to 
review the proposal before tonight’s meeting and received feedback on the proposed plans which 
will also be reviewed. 
 
Mr. Kyte provided background information on The Roanoke Group.  He stated as a result of the 
vibrant downtown they have been paying close attention to the CBD design process and how it 
relates to Blocks Two and Three.  Mr. Kyte showed a previous proposal submitted earlier this year 
and expressed his agreement with the sentiment of the community the development did not fit 
within Lake Bluff.  He stated a PMD would allow for residents and Village Officials to provide 
input on the development as it goes through the review process.  Mr. Kyte confirmed The 
Roanoke Group is not the property owner, but does have a contract with the owner that is 
contingent on the project being approved.   
 
Mr. Kyte showed a diagram of what could be built as of right based on the current underlying 
zoning.  He showed examples of new construction along the North Shore and commented on the 
features noting those the transitional buyer is not currently pursuing.  Mr. Kyte presented 
demographic statistics and expressed his belief the future population will not be looking for 
traditional housing types. 
 
Mr. Kyte stated a traffic study has been conducted and noted there will be no traffic issues 
associated with the project.  Mr. Kyte stated the Petitioner’s fiscal impact consultant, Kane, 
Mekenna & Associates, Inc., anticipates a future net fiscal impact that will increase the base tax.  
He stated the Development will not negatively impact School District #65.  Lastly, Mr. Kyte 
showed photographs of the existing conditions surrounding the site and neighborhood.  He then 
introduced Robert Heidy of Robert Heidy Architects.  
 
Mr. Heidy noted the intention with the development is to create a residential project that responds 
to the context of Scranton Avenue.  Mr. Heidy showed preliminary sketches of the development 
for the site.  Mr. Heidy showed an aerial of the site.  He described the development as having a 
minimal setback along Scranton Avenue, and the building’s façade along Scranton Avenue, as 
broken up to minimize the massing of the structure.  He noted the third story is setback 8’4” 
(along Scranton) from the second story building wall.   He showed an access lane on the north side 
providing rear loaded access to the garages built at grade.  In the previous proposal there was a 
through lane which we concluded is not necessary and landscape elements will be provided to 
separate access from the two east and west roads into the site and prevent through traffic through 
the rear of the development. 
 
Mr. Heidy showed the floor plans consisting of four units on the first floor fronting Scranton 
Avenue.  The second story having eight units and the third story having two penthouse units.  He 
stated trash is enclosed within the parking enclosure and there are exterior stairs that provide 
egress from the second and third stories.  The primary entrances to the building are located around 
the perimeter of the development and access points to the second and third floors would be 
through an elevator.  He provided information on the open space, positioned mid-block, along 
Scranton Avenue. 
 
Mr. Heidy stated the second floor consists of four units per building serviced by an elevator 
corridor. The third floor consist of two penthouse units with a landscaped terrace and three walls 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 5

of daylight around the perimeter.  The roof plan shows a slopping, hip roof that seeks to reduce 
the impact of the third story. 
 
Mr. Heidy reviewed the preliminary landscape plan noting the pocket park located mid-block 
along Scranton Avenue. He showed images of the exterior of the building which is predominately 
masonry.  He showed perspectives of the building elevations from street level along Evanston and 
Oak Avenues. Mr. Heidy showed a diagram of the third story depicting the third story setback 
compared to a daylight plane regulation.  Mr. Heidy showed the building pop-out projections and 
noted it helps mitigate the long walls of the facades.  Mr. Heidy showed a series of 3D images of 
the proposed development as well. 
 
Mr. Heidy showed proposed changes to the Scranton Avenue curb face to allow greater 
streetscape plantings and continue the parallel parking scheme.  He showed the landscape features 
from the rear of the property.  Mr. Kyte stated the plan is to install mature maple trees and smaller 
crabapple trees.          
 
The Petitioner concluded the presentation and Chair Kraus opened the floor for comments from 
the Commissioners. 
 
Member Badger asked about the impact to stormwater drainage given the amount of impervious 
surface on the site.  Mr. Kyte stated the preliminary stormwater report suggests the use of 
permeable pavers and wells could be used if there is a need to accommodate drainage.  He also 
noted sewers could be increased in capacity to hold additional stormwater.  
 
Member Burns asked why the landscape feature is mid-block and not designed to take advantage 
of maintaining the existing Oak tree stand along Evanston Avenue.  Mr. Kyte stated it was 
important to minimize the impact the two structures have along the streetscape and the space in 
the middle improves the appearance for the neighbors and provides an opportunity to install a 
pocket park. 
 
Member Miller expressed his concern the proposed units, because of their cost, would not serve a 
transitional housing type.  He stated the proposal does not fill a need for Lake Bluff.  The space is 
smaller, but the cost and taxes will not change.  Mr. Kyte expressed his preference to build a less 
dense development in the CBD.  He stated it is not financially feasible to lower the price of the 
units at this density or move forward without a third story. 
 
Member Burns expressed concern for the transition from this building to the surrounding areas.  
He inquired about the transitional elements that could be incorporated to make it fit into the 
community.  Mr. Kyte expressed his belief it would be beneficial to separate the two buildings as 
part of the transition as there are unrelenting long building walls along Blocks One and Two 
already.  He stated the building was designed to look like the front of a house as you transition 
from the side. 
 
Member Badger expressed concern with the lack of an adequate setback from the Evanston 
Avenue side.  He stated the Planning Principles recommended for adoption by the PCZBA 
conserve open space because it serves as a transition between residential on the east and 
commercial on the west.  He asked if there was a model with less units that could provide more 
transition on the east side of the site. 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 6

 
Mr. Heidy stated each of the four parking bays (holds eight cars each) measure 64 ft. in width and 
have 20 ft. deep parking stalls and 24 ft. drive aisles which is a traditional approach to parking.  
He stated the building could be reduced and moved westerly, providing more open space on the 
east; however, there is a need to maintain the proposed parking grid and the only way to do that is 
to minimize the setback on the west side.      
 
 
Member Bishop expressed concern for the proposed height of the building and the setback 
provided on the north.  Mr. Heidy stated the building is setback 80 ft. from its second story to the 
houses on the north and setback 90 ft. from its third story. 
 
Member Peters asked if it was possible to reduce portions of the second story roof.  Mr. Heidy 
stated because of the nature and type of building there is an expectation for a ceiling height of 9 ft.  
He commented on the various heights used throughout the building to accommodate elevator 
access. 
 
In response to a question from Chair Kraus, Mr. Heidy stated the open space in the front is public 
space. 
 
Chair Kraus asked for a tree survey that shows the location of the trees being removed and those 
being planted. In addition, he inquired about the need for two parking spaces per unit.  Mr. Kyte 
expressed his understanding the Zoning Code requires two spaces for multi-family units.  He 
noted the extra parking space could be used for storage if not used for a vehicle. 
 
In response to a question from Chair Kraus, Mr. Kyte stated the development will have covered 
parking and an enclosed trash receptacle and a fence along the rear perimeter of the property.  Mr., 
Kyte expressed interest in providing additional landscaping. 
 
Chair Kraus asked for additional information regarding the daylight plane impact, the proposed 
setbacks and the views of the existing conditions all around the site.  He stated the PCZBA will 
look to further discuss having open space on the east along Evanston Avenue.  
 
Member Bishop asked if the third story penthouses could be smaller so they are less visible. Mr. 
Kyte stated they have made an effort to minimize the third floor. Member Bishop encouraged 
them to continue exploring options to minimize the third floor impact. 
 
Member Miller suggested the Petitioner explore creating a more transition housing concept on the 
east to better blend in with the beginning of the single-family neighborhood.  Mr. Kyte stated the 
building is designed to appear as two buildings, but also as townhomes with the relief provided 
along the front and east/west sides of the building. 
 
Member Miller expressed his interest in making the easterly portion of the building more like 
three individual single-family homes. 
 
As there were no further comments from the PCZBA, Chair Kraus opened the floor for public 
comments. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 7

Mr. Rick Lesser (resident) expressed concern for the project’s conflict with the neighbors to the 
north and east.  He stated the Petitioner is using planned development regulations as a means to 
avoid the Village’s existing zoning which is a bad policy and something the PCZBA should avoid.  
Mr. Lesser stated the proposed development is in stark contrast to any other development in Lake 
Bluff.  The Village has been and should be championed as a community with a hometown feel for 
families and children.  Mr. Lesser stated he has experienced similar processes, specifically the 
Stonebridge Planned Development, and asked what The Roanoke Group has actually built.  He 
stated the Village should want a builder with a proven track record.  Mr. Lesser expressed concern 
for maintain the scale of the Village and stated he served on the Village Board when the Block 
One proposal was considered.  He stated a third story was appropriate because there were no 
neighbors to impact.  Mr. Lesser stated Block Three is a transitional area and whatever is built 
there should be something that will carry through with that transition.  Lastly, Mr. Lesser asked 
the PCZBA to not recommend approval of the project. 
 
Mr. Mark Stolzenberg (resident) showed pictures of the existing conditions of the site.  He showed 
a sketch of the proposed development and then showed a sketch of the proposed building 
elevations in comparison to the existing PNC Bank elevations on Scranton and Oak Avenues. He 
commented on how the development would look from the backyards along North Avenue. Mr. 
Stolzenberg stated Planning Principles #3, #7 and #9 are relevant to this development.  Mr. 
Stolzenberg stated he welcomes a development that is responsible and fits with the character of 
the community.  He stated if we undertake the significant revision to the Zoning Code that this 
development requires this could greenlight other similar developments in other areas of the 
community.   
 
Ms. Catherine Briand (resident) stated this development is not transitional and noted the type of 
development proposed belongs in Evanston or along Greenbay Road in Winnetka.  She expressed 
concern for the change in use and the removal of the existing landscaping.  Ms. Briand stated a 
developer that has no track record to speak of is not someone to be trusted.  She stated this is a 
greenlight for developing Block Two in a similar manner.  Ms. Briand added that there is no 
sufficient on-street parking for visitors. 
 
Mr. Porter Vargas (resident) questioned the proposed PMD draft ordinance regarding the positive 
recommendation that is generated should the PCZBA not take action within 60 days.  Village 
Attorney Friedman stated that may occur after the conclusion of the public hearing if the PCZBA 
took no action; however, the PCZBA would have to close the public hearing before the 60 day 
timeline starts.   Additionally, Mr. Vargas expressed concern for having the regulations protect the 
Village in the event the Developer doesn’t follow through with the development plans.  Village 
Attorney Friedman stated if the Village approves a final PMD development plan there will be 
numerous protections built in the ordinance to ensure that if the developer is not able to complete 
the project, the property will be restored.  
 
Ms. Robin McAfee (resident) stated she is appalled that the Village would consider circumventing 
the democratic process by allowing a special permit.  She stated Lake Bluff is a two story town 
and she is worried the Village is accommodating a developer with the sole purpose of making a 
profit instead of looking out for the Village’s well-being.    
 
Ms. Ruth Schnell (resident) stated transitional housing could mean a combination of different 
things.  She expressed her support for having condominiums near downtown and the library. 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 8

 
Ms. Marina Carney Puryear (resident) stated the Village is fortunate to have a CBD that is 
anchored by green space.  The proposed plan is better than the previous plan, but the impact on 
the green space is more significant largely due to the loss of the 11 mature oak trees.  She stated 
this is a precedent setting decision for downtown. She asked the PCZBA to consider the impact to 
the landscape and the need to strike a balance. 
 
Ms. Christine Letchinger (resident) stated land use and zoning must evolve overtime. The Village 
has changed a great deal in the past 20 years and the Village’s Advisory Boards have 
accomplished a lot in regards to land use. She stated this project is better than the previous project 
although it needs to be tweaked.  She stated there is concern regarding financing and noted there 
are financial safeguards built-in the approval documents to ensure public improvements will be 
made.  Ms. Letchinger stated this development will not set a precedence because every plan is 
considered separately and specific to the property.  She stated the third story is not necessarily a 
bad thing depending on the design and that the Evanston Avenue side needs reviewed. Ms. 
Letchinger commented on past redevelopments and noted every time there is a proposal we have 
the same concerns for height, density, parking and traffic, yet the Village has managed to do 
various developments with the assistance of its advisory boards.  She stated she wanted to give 
this perspective because it matters to take pause and consider this could work in the long run. 
 
Mr. Thomas McAfee (resident) expressed concern for changing the zoning regulations for the 
downtown. He stated for the proposed Block Three development the Village is considering two 
new critical conditions for a text amendment from the Zoning Code to allow for a planned multi-
use development and a special use permit.  He stated these conditions by the PCZBA still do not 
change the existing underlying zoning for Block Three.  He expressed his concern the use of the 
PMD conceals the numerous zoning variations that will be required by the Petitioner.  Variations 
from the building height and impervious surface will be needed.  He stated it is critical for all 
government agencies to maintain transparency with their actions and conduct.  He stated the PMD 
is being used to disguise the magnitude of the required variations.  Mr. McAfee stated it was 
inappropriate for the Village to remove the standard regarding impact to neighboring properties as 
this was included in the PCD ordinance, the basis for crating the PMD draft ordinance. Mr. 
McAfee expressed concern for the process is not transparent and there has been a lot of behind the 
scenes coordination with this project.  Mr. McAfee stated the proposal has been thoughtful and the 
building is beautiful, but it’s completely out of context with the community.  
 
Mr. Robert Isham (resident) stated he is planning to transition to his home at 134 North Avenue 
but does not want to if the proposed development is approved.  Mr. Isham stated he supports all 
the comments against this project.  It is a very good looking project but it does not belong in Lake 
Bluff. 
 
Mr. Paul Lemieux (resident) stated he supports the multi-family use for the property and is 
sensitive to the comments that it maybe not be transitional and it’s too bulky, but the review 
process will address those elements.  In terms of use he likes the multi-family use there and stated 
single-family housing on that block would not be useful because the prospect of six driveways 
coming out onto Scranton Avenue, as well as the removal of all the parking, would considerably 
change the character of the block.  He stated the Village does not need townhouses and flats are a 
great idea and asked the Village to address the bulk.  
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 9

Mr. Thomas Zarse (resident) stated it is a beautiful building but the wrong location for Lake Bluff.  
He commented on the proposed development for the former Children’s Home in Lake Bluff and 
noted the Village made the right decision to maintain the character of the neighborhood by 
allowing single-family homes. He stated single-family houses on the east end of this lot is 
appropriate; it is currently zoned that away and should not be changed.   
 
Ms. Holli Volkert (resident) asked the PCZBA to remember there are homes on North Avenue 
that actually face Oak Avenue.  Ms. Volkert stated we have historic homes in the Village and it 
would be nice to be appreciated for preserving the historic homes in the downtown.   
 
Mr. Kyle Petersen (resident) stated he is opposed to the zoning changes and the character of the 
community needs preserved.  He stated Block One makes sense to be three stories because you 
have the densest buildings in the core of the urban area and then step down the intensity of uses as 
you move away from the urban core.  He stated as you go down Scranton Avenue, Block One is 
three stories, then it steps down to two stories and then one before you get to Oak Avenue.  To go 
back from a planning principle is not consistent and does not transition well with the existing 
neighborhood.  Mr. Petersen stated the PCD on Block Two and Three are very similar and there is 
right to be concerned about what happens on Block Three occurring on Block Two.  He stated the 
track record of the developer should also be considered. 
 
Mr. Neal Geitner (resident) stated he attended the previous meeting with the last developer and 
commented on the feedback provided during the meeting. Mr. Geitner stated the size and scale 
does not offend him and asked that attempts be made to reach the broader Lake Bluff market to 
capture the opinion of those not in attendance at the meeting. 
 
Mr. Jerry Kluchka (resident) stated he resides at the home that would look out at the building.  He 
stated the developer has done a beautiful job designing the project but the project is too big for the 
space available.  Mr. Kluchka stated he is not in favor of the project and asked if there is 
something else that can be done with the property on a smaller scale which can also be of benefit 
to the developer.     
 
Ms. Karen Crotty (resident) stated the building looks like it belongs on Western Avenue in Lake 
Forest with the existing condominiums.  She stated if we had more space that would be perfect 
because the building is beautiful, but out of scale for Lake Bluff.  
 
As there were no further comments, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing. 
 
Chair Kraus reviewed the options for action before the PCZBA and summarized the following 
request for additional information and action: i) an existing tree survey (showing species and 
quality of trees) and proposed landscape plan, as well as those trees being removed in reference to 
the Village’s Tree Preservation Regulations; ii) a streetscape plan for Evanston Avenue addressing 
building façade and entire eastern configuration to create transition with the neighborhood to the 
east; iii) the buffer along the northern property line and encouraged the Petitioner to continue to 
work with the neighbors; iv) explore moving the development more to the west to provide greater 
setback along Evanston Avenue; v) explore further reducing the impact of the third floor;  vi) 
provide a three dimensional model showing all angles around the property; vi) review the way the 
daylight plane regulation is being applied to the third story; vii) review and discuss the omission 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 10

of the standard from the PMD draft ordinance; and viii) discuss and review the specific standards 
in the PMD.  
 
Member Badger expressed his preference to preserve open space adjacent to the CBD.  He stated 
he likes the architectural features of the building and is not against having three stories, but would 
favor scaling back the project to preserve the open space.  Member Badger asked the unit count to 
be reduced to condense the building and provide more of a transition from downtown to the 
residential district. 
 
Member Peters expressed his concern for the density, height and scope of the project.  The 
proposal is architecturally attractive and asked if the Village is ready for a structure that has a 
perception of being that large on that block.  
 
Member Miller stated it is not worth moving forward without significant changes to the proposal 
that will ensure the developer works within the planning principles.  Member Miller stated this is 
not transitional housing, but two large apartment buildings in a residential neighborhood. He noted 
he is opposed to the development of PMD regulations.  He stated the developer is not listening to 
the Village or the community and he should apply the planning principles when considering this 
project. 
 
Member Collins stated residents endure high property taxes to live in Lake Bluff which is a very 
unique small scale Village.  She stated there may be some appeal amongst Village leadership that 
this is somehow going to help the tax base and expressed her belief it could negatively impact the 
tax base because the Village would no longer be unique.  She read paragraph 10-6a-11 of the CBD 
Zoning Code regarding design standards and guidelines.  Member Collins stated she has been 
supportive of changes in the past, but this is quite different because this is a big change to the 
character of the Village as it will no longer feel like the small town we all love.  She stated it is 
possible to do multi-family that meets a smaller scale and actually works.  Member Collins stated 
she is not against development or multi-family residential, but would like projects that have a 
small town intimate feel.    
 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA typically prefers to allow time for the Petitioner to make changes 
to the proposal and respond to comments stated during the meeting.   
 
Chair Kraus continued the public hearing to the July 20, 2016 PCZBA meeting.  

 
4. A Public Hearing to Consider: i) a Variation From the E-1 Residence District Minimum Lot 

Width Requirements of Section 10-5B-4 of the Zoning Code; ii) a Variation From the Lot 
Frontage Requirements of Section 10-5-1 of the Zoning Code; and iii) Any Other Zoning 
Relief as Required to Build a New House on the Property Located at 515 Cambridge Lane 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and then requested an update from Staff. 
 
A to VA Stanick stated that provided in the Informational Updates received by the PCZBA prior 
to the meeting is a description of an additional variation which emerged out of having received an 
updated final plat of subdivision.  This additional variation is regarding the accessory structure 
setback requirements for the existing accessory structure on the proposed new lot.  He stated there 
were also some documents that were provided relating to the history of the subdivision and the 
intent that this lot be buildable.  



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 11

 
A to VA Stanick provided a brief history of the property and reviewed the zoning relief needed for 
the proposal to subdivide 515 Cambridge Lane.  A to VA Stanick stated the PCZBA is not 
considering a subdivision of this lot because it is only creating one additional lot, which given the 
requested variations, should those be granting approval by the Village Board, would create a lot 
that complies with the Zoning Code and be exempt for the Village’s Tentative Plat Subdivision 
Regulations.  A discussion followed. 
 
A to VA Stanick stated the Petitioners are requesting: i) a 76% variation from the minimum lot 
frontage requirements of 150 ft. to permit a lot frontage of 35.92 ft. for parcel 1 of Lot 8 (vacant 
parcel); ii) an 18% variation from the minimum lot width requirements of 150 ft. to permit a lot 
width of 123 ft. for parcel 1 of Lot 8; and 
iii) a 64% variation from the E-1 District minimum accessory structure setback requirements of 15 
ft. to allow an existing accessory structure (approximately 23 ft. in height) to encroach in the 
required side yard setback by 9.55 ft.  In addition, after confirming the Petitioners would like to 
keep the accessory structure, the PCZBA will also consider a variation to permit the existing 
accessory structure located on parcel 1 of Lot 8 to remain without a principal structure. 
 
A to VA Stanick presented a map of the property and showed the lot proposed for subdivision and 
provided a brief history of the property.  

 
Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Christopher Burke (Petitioner) stated he is the contract purchaser of the property and the plan 
is to build a new single-family home.  He provided background information regarding homes he 
has built in Lake Bluff.  Mr. Burke reviewed his request for zoning relief.  He noted the variations 
being sought are in response to the changes to the Zoning Code since the property was originally 
subdivide in the late 1970s.  
 
As there were no comments from the PCZBA, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing. 
 
Member Badger moved to recommend the Village Board approve the following zoning relief to 
allow a one-lot subdivision of the property at 515 Cambridge Lane: i) a 76% variation from the 
minimum lot frontage requirements of 150 ft. to permit a lot frontage of 35.92 ft. for parcel 1 of 
Lot 8 (vacant parcel); ii) an 18% variation from the minimum lot width requirements of 150 ft. to 
permit a lot width of 123 ft. for parcel 1 of Lot 8; iii) a 64% variation from the E-1 District 
minimum accessory structure setback requirements of 15 ft. to allow an existing accessory 
structure (approximately 23 ft. in height) to encroach in the required side yard setback by 9.55 ft.; 
and iv) a variation to permit the existing accessory structure located on parcel 1 of Lot 8 to remain 
without a principal structure. Member Bishop seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the 
following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (7)  Badger, Bishop, Burns, Collins, Miller, Peters and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (0)  
Absent: (0)  
 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 12

5. A Public Hearing to Consider the Following: i) a Text Amendment to the Village’s Zoning 
Regulations to Allow the Construction, Operation and Maintenance of Electric Incline Tram 
Lift Systems on Bluffs as a Permitted or Special Use in Residential Zoning Districts; ii) a 
Special Use Permit to Allow the Construction, Operation and Maintenance of an Electric 
Incline Tram Lift System on the Bluff Located at 611 Lansdowne Lane; and iii) Any Other 
Zoning Relief as Required 
 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and then requested an update from Staff. 
 
A to VA Stanick stated the Petitioner is seeking to amend the Lake Bluff Zoning Code regarding 
bluff and ravine regulations that prohibit the construction of an accessory structure in any bluff or 
ravine.  The Petitioner recently sought and was granted zoning relief by the Village to construct a 
new pool house (with light, heat and bathing facilities) which is being built at the same time as 
their new residence on Lot 5 in the Lansdowne Subdivision; at this time, they are proposing to 
install an electric lift system (with necessary landings) to provide access from the top of the bluff 
to the bottom for access to the shoreline and water via a Special Use Permit or as of right.   
Chair Kraus noted the PCZBA needs to consider whether the proposed use would be allowed as of 
right or by a special use permit.  
 
Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing. 
 
In response to a comment from Chair Kraus, Mr. Jeffrey Tondola, contractor representing the 
Petitioner, stated currently there are no plans to replace the existing stairs.   
 
A discussion regarding allowing stairs in addition to trams followed. Interest was expressed 
among the Members of the PCZBA to only allow one tram per property and require the tram to 
undergo an annual inspection.  It was also the consensus of the PCZBA to allow this use as a 
special use. 
 
As there were no further comments, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing 
 
Member Collins moved to recommend the Village Board approve a text amendment to the Zoning 
Code to allow the construction, operation and maintenance of electric incline tram lift systems on 
bluffs as a special use on lakefront properties limited to one tram to the beach per property and 
require annual inspections.  Member Miller seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the 
following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (7)  Bishop, Burns, Collins, Miller, Peters, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (0)  
Absent: (0)  
 
Member Collins moved to recommend the Village Board approve a special use permit to allow the 
operation of an electric incline tram lift system on the bluff at 611 Lansdowne Lane.  Member 
Bishop seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (7)  Burns, Collins, Miller, Peters, Badger, Bishop and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (0)  
Absent: (0) 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 15, 2016 

 

 13

6. A Public Hearing (continued to July 20, 2016) to Consider the Following: i) a Variation From 
the R-3 Residence District, Minimum Front Yard Setback Regulations of Section 10-5-3 of 
the Zoning Code; ii) a Variation From the Required Front Yard Setback Impervious 
Surface Limitation Regulations of Section 10-5-7 of the Zoning Code; and iii) Any Other 
Zoning Relief as Required to Construct an Attached Garage by Enclosing the Existing Car 
Port Located at 225 W. Center Avenue 
 

7. Commissioner’s Report 
Chair Kraus reported the next regular PCZBA meeting is scheduled for July 20, 2016. 
 

8. Staff’s Report 
A to VA Stanick had no report.  
 

9. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, Member Collins moved to adjourn 
the meeting.  Member Miller seconded the motion.  The meeting adjourned at 10:52 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,      
 
 
 
 
Brandon Stanick 
Assistant to the Village Administrator 











 

 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
MEETING 

Monday, July 25, 2016 
7:00 P.M. 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #15 - INFORMATIONAL UPDATE 
 
 
 April 20, 2016 Approved Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals 

(PCZBA) Meeting Minutes; 
 May 18, 2016 Approved PCZBA Meeting Minutes; 
 An Email dated May 17, 2016 from PCZBA Member Badger; 
 A memo with attachments from resident Mark Stolzenberg, presented during the 

May 18, 2016 PCZBA Meeting;  and 
 A presentation from resident Tom McAfee, shared at the May 18, 2016 PCZBA 

Meeting. 































































East Lake Bluff 
Blocks 2 and 3 
Existing Conditions

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
A presentation from residentTom McAfee shared at the May 18, 2016 PCZBA Meeting



10 E North Avenue



14 E North Avenue



16 E North Avenue



E North Avenue



34 E North Avenue



36 E North Avenue



100 E North Avenue



106 E North Avenue



108 E North Avenue



112 E North Avenue



105 E North Avenue



105 E North Avenue



Lake Forest



E North Avenue Current South View



E North Avenue 3 Story South View



131 E North Avenue



Nysted 131 E North Avenue current rear view



125 E North Avenue



Current Multi‐family
Lake Bluff Character



112 E North Avenue
35 E Washington



112 E North Avenue
31 E Washington



112 E North Avenue
23 E Washington



112 E North Avenue
19 E Washington



112 E North Avenue

15 E Washington



112 E North Avenue
7 E Washington



112 E North Avenue
105 E Washington





TESKA PLAN



CURRENT OCCUPANCY

5/18/2016



EXISTING OCCUPANCY



COMMUNITY 
PREFERRED





VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  16 

 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S 

FRONT YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS (225 W. Center Avenue) 
 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL OF THE ORDINANCE (Voice Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
SB-WRA, LLC (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
In July 2016 the Village received a revised zoning application from SB-WRA, LLC (Petitioner), 
property owner of 225 W. Center Avenue, seeking zoning relief from the Village’s R-3 Residence 
District minimum front yard setback regulations to allow for the conversion of an open carport to a 
fully enclosed two car garage.  The house is an existing legal nonconforming structure that currently 
encroaches into the required minimum front yard setback of 30 feet by 11.50 feet. The Petitioner is 
seeking zoning relief because the conversion of the open carport to a fully enclosed garage is 
considered to increase the degree of the existing nonconformity; however, enclosing the carport will 
not increase the existing encroachment into the required minimum front yard setback.   
 
At its meeting on July 20th the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) 
conducted a public hearing and unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the following:  
 

 A variation from the R-3 Residence District minimum front yard setback regulations of 30 feet 
to allow a proposed two car garage to encroach into the front yard setback by 11.50 feet (or a 
38.30% variation). 

 
The Petitioner, as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from 
the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. Ordinance Granting Requested Zoning Relief for 225 W. Center Avenue; and 
2. PCZBA Staff Report Dated July 15, 2016 (with attachments). 

 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of First Reading of the Ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION  
FROM THE VILLAGE'S FRONT YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 

 (225 West Center)  
 

 
Passed by the Board of Trustees,  ________________, 2016 

Printed and Published,  __________________, 2016 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION  
FROM THE VILLAGE'S FRONT YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 

 (225 West Center)  
 

WHEREAS, SB-WRA, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the property located in 
the Village’s R-3 Residence District ("R-3 District") at 225 West Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, 
Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on July 8, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application including 
proposed site plans, proposed elevations, and a plat of survey (collectively, “Application”), 
requesting (i) a variation from the front yard setback regulations of the Lake Bluff Zoning 
Regulations in order to convert an existing carport on the west side of the existing home on the 
Property to a fully enclosed two-car garage (“Garage”) that encroaches approximately 18.5 feet 
into the required front yard setback  ("Front Yard Setback Variation"); and (ii) a variation from 
the required front yard setback impervious surface limitation regulation (“Impervious Surface 
Variation”); and 

WHEREAS, upon Reviewing the Application, it was determined that the 
Impervious Surface Variation was not required; and  

WHEREAS, on July 20, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the Front Yard 
Setback Variation and recommended that the Village Board grant the Front Yard Setback 
Variation; and  

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees has determined that it would be 
in the best interest of the Village to grant the Front Yard Setback Variation in accordance with, 
and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. Recitals.  

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance as the findings of the 
President and Board of Trustees.  

 Section 2. Public Hearing. 

 A public hearing to consider the applicant's request for a variation from the front 
yard setback regulations for the R-3 District was duly advertised on May 30, 2016, in The Lake 
County News-Sun, and was held by the PCZBA on June 15, 2016 and continued to July 20, 
2016, on which date the PCZBA recommended approval of the requested variation from the 
front yard setback regulations. 

  



Section 3.   Grant of Variation.  

Pursuant to the standards and procedures set forth in Section 10-5-3A of the Lake Bluff 
Zoning Regulations and subject to and contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance, a variation of approximately 18.5 feet, or 
38.30% percent, is hereby granted to the Applicant from restriction of Section 10-5-3A of the 
Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations to permit the Garage to encroach approximately 11.5 feet into the 
required front yard setback for the Property.   

Section 4. Conditions of Approval.   

The findings in Section 1 and the variation granted in Section 3 of this Ordinance are 
hereby expressly subject to and contingent upon each of the conditions set forth in this Section. 

A. Compliance with Application.  The Garage, the Property and all 
operations conducted thereon must be developed, used, maintained, and located in substantial 
compliance with the provisions set forth in Section 3 of this Ordinance and the Application 
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B. 

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Garage, the Property, and all operations conducted thereon 
must comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, 
resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention 
codes. 

  Section 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 

  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant, or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, 
the variations granted in this Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of 
Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

  Section 6. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability. 

  The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every Section of this 
Ordinance are for and will inure to the benefit of and run with and bind the Property, unless 
otherwise explicitly set forth in this Ordinance. 

  Section 7. No Third Party Beneficiaries.   

  Nothing in this Ordinance creates, or will be construed or interpreted to create, 
any third party beneficiary rights. 
 
  Section 8. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in 
the manner required by law;  



ii. Printing and publication of this Ordinance in the manner required 
by law; and 

iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in 
the Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an 
unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by 
each and all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in 
this Ordinance.  The unconditional agreement and consent must 
be executed by the Applicant.  The unconditional agreement and 
consent must be substantially in the form attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit C. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 8.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

PASSED this ____ day of _________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  (  )  

NAYS:  (  )  

ABSTAIN: (  )  

ABSENT: (  )  

APPROVED this ____ day of _________, 2016. 
 
 
               
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:         

SECOND READING:         

PASSED:          

APPROVED:          

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:        

 

#47362279_v2 



Exhibit A 
 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 
 
LOT 25 IN BLOCK 5 IN “THE TERRACE”, BEING H.O. STONE AND COMPANY’S 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF 
THE 3RD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF, RECORDED 
SEPTEMBER 28, 1925 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 265877, IN BOOK “O” OF PLATS, PAGES 
62, 63, AND 64, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN # 12-20-218-001-0000 
 
Commonly known as 225 West Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois. 



Exhibit B 
 

Zoning Application and Related Documents 



Exhibit C 

Applicants' Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, SB-WRA, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the property located in 
the Village’s R-3 Residence District ("R-3 District") at 225 West Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, 
Illinois (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on July 9, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application including 
proposed site plans, proposed elevations, and a plat of survey (collectively, “Application”), 
requesting (i) a variation from the front yard setback regulations of the Lake Bluff Zoning 
Regulations in order to convert an existing open-walled carport on the west side of the existing 
home on the Property to a fully enclosed two-car garage (“Garage”) that encroaches 
approximately 18.5 feet into the required front yard setback  ("Front Yard Setback Variation"); 
and (ii) a variation from the required front yard setback impervious surface limitation regulation 
(“Impervious Surface Variation”); and 

WHEREAS, upon reviewing the Application, it was determined that the 
Impervious Surface Variation was not required; and  

WHEREAS, on July 20, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the Front Yard 
Setback Variation and recommended that the Village Board grant the Front Yard Setback 
Variation; and  

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2016, (“Ordinance”) approves the 
requested Variation, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; 
and 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicants file with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, have considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agree not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits or approvals for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s 
issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to 
insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 



4. The Applicant agrees to and hereby holds harmless and indemnify the 
Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Ordinance approving the Variation. 

 
 
 
 
Dated: ____________, 20__. 
 
 
ATTEST:      SB-WRA, LLC 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2















































 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
    

                               Agenda Item: 17 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LYFT 
HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC TO OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS 
FACILITY AT 960 NORTH SHORE DRIVE, UNIT #6 IN THE VILLAGE’S  
L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE (Voice Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LYFT HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
On June 24, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Lyft Health and Fitness, LLC 
(Petitioner), requesting a Special Use Permit (SUP) to operate a physical fitness facility at 960 North 
Shore Drive, Unit #6 (Property).   The Petitioner will offer physical fitness services in small groups (10 to 
15 people) and offer personal training, specialty training, sport specific training and youth athletic 
training services as well.  At the conclusion of the public hearing on July 20th the Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the request for 
a SUP to allow the Petitioner to operate a physical fitness facility at the Property pursuant to operations 
outlined in the zoning application.  
 
Earlier this year the Village Board approved an amendment to the Zoning Code allowing physical fitness 
facilities as a special use in the L-1 Zoning District and granted a SUP to a Vlad’s Gym, a personal trainer 
operating at 910 Sherwood Drive.  

 
The Petitioner and Village Staff will be available at the meeting to answer questions from the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Ordinance Granting the Petitioner a SUP to Operate a Physical Fitness Facility at the Property; 
and  

2. PCZBA Staff Report (with attachments) Dated July 15, 2016. 
 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of First Reading of the Ordinance.  

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 7/25/2016 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
TO LYFT HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC TO OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS FACILITY 

AT 960 NORTH SHORE DRIVE, UNIT 6, 
IN THE VILLAGE’S L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT 

 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  ________________, 2016 

Printed and Published,  __________________, 2016 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
TO LYFT HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC TO OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS FACILITY 

AT 960 NORTH SHORE DRIVE, UNIT 6 
IN THE VILLAGE’S L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, Lyft Health and Fitness, LLC ("Applicant") has applied for a special 

use permit pursuant to Section 10-4-2E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations to allow for the 
operation of a physical fitness facility (“Facility”) at 960 North Shore Drive, Unit 6, Illinois, 
(“Premises”)  which Premises is located in the Village’s L-1 Light Industry District and is legally 
described on Exhibit A attached to this Ordinance ("Subject Property"); and 

WHEREAS, following a public hearing, the Lake Bluff Joint Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals  (“PCZBA”) recommended that the Village Board grant a special use 
permit for operation of the Facility in the Premises (“Special Use Permit”); and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it would 
be in the best interest of the Village to grant the requested special use permit in accordance 
with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:  

Section 1. Recitals.  

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance as findings of the 
President and Board of Trustees.  

Section 2. Public Hearing.  

A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for the Special Use Permit 
was duly advertised on July 5, 2016 in The Lake County News-Sun, and was held by the 
PCZBA on July 20, 2016, on which date the PCZBA recommended that the Village Board grant 
the Special Use Permit subject to the conditions set forth in this Ordinance.  

Section 3. Special Use Permit. Subject to and contingent upon the 
conditions, restrictions, and provisions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance, a special use 
permit is hereby granted, pursuant to Section 10-4-2E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, to 
allow the operation of the Facility in the Premises on the Subject Property.  

Section 4. Conditions.  

The special use permit granted in Section 3 of this Ordinance is expressly 
subject to and contingent on each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 

A. Compliance with Application.  The Facility must be operated in 
substantial accordance with the Applicant’s application for a special use permit and 
accompanying documents, attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B (“Application”).  

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Facility, and all of the operations and activities on and in the 



-2- 

Premises and the Subject Property shall comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, 
and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations.   

Section 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions.  

Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant to comply with any or all of the conditions, 
restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, the approval granted in Section 3 of this Ordinance 
will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, be 
revoked and become null and void.  

Section 6. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability.  

The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every section and 
provision of this Ordinance are for the sole benefit of and bind the Applicant, unless otherwise 
explicitly set forth in this Ordinance.  Nothing in this Ordinance will be deemed to allow this 
Ordinance to be transferred to any person or entity other than the Applicant without a new 
application for approval.  

Section 7. Effective Date.  

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

1. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; 

2. Publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law; and 

3. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Ordinance.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit C. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 7.A.3 of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



-3- 

PASSED this ____ day of ____________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village 
of Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  ( )  

NAYS:  ( )  

ABSTAIN: ( )  

ABSENT: ( )  

APPROVED this _____ day of ____________, 2016. 
 
 
               
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:   

PASSED:    

APPROVED:    

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   

 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 
 
LOTS 15 AND 16 IN UNIT 2 IN UNIT NO.(S) 1,2,3,4,5,6, IN NORTH SHORE DRIVE 
INDUSTRIAL CONDOMINIUM AS DELINEATED ON A SURVEY OF THE FOLLOWING 
DESCRIBED REAL ESTATE: LOTS 15 AND 16 OF NORTH SHORE INDUSTRIAL AND 
RESEARCH CENTRE, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF LOT “A” IN NORTH SHORE INDUSTRIAL 
AND RESEARCH CENTRE UNIT 1, LOCATED IN PARTS OF SECTIONS UNIT 2, 
RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 1416589 ON APRIL 7, 1969 AND LYING IN PARTS OF 
SECTION 19 AND 20, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF UNIT 2 OF NORTH SHORE INDUSTRIAL AND 
RESEARCH CENTRE, RECORDED APRIL 7, 1969 AS DOCUMENT 1416589, IN BOOK 46 
OF PLATS, PAGE 43 IN THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, WHICH 
SURVEY IS ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THE DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM 
RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 3816213, TOGETHER WITH ITS UNDIVIDED 
PERCENTAGE INTEREST IN THE COMMON ELEMENTS, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS PIN: 
1219401-003. 
 
Commonly known as 960 North Shore Drive, Unit #6, Lake Bluff, IL 
 
 



 2

EXHIBIT B 
 

Zoning Application 



 3

EXHIBIT C 
 

Unconditional Agreement and Consent 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 
 

WHEREAS, Lyft Health and Fitness, LLC ("Applicant") has applied for a special 
use permit pursuant to Section 10-4-2E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations to allow for the 
operation of a physical fitness facility (“Facility”) at 960 North Shore Drive, Unit 6, Illinois, 
(“Premises”)  which property is located in the Village’s L-1 Light Industry District ("Subject 
Property"); and 

WHEREAS, following a public hearing, the Lake Bluff Joint Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals  (“PCZBA”)  recommended that the Village Board grant a special use 
permit for operation of the Facility in the Premises (“Special Use Permit”); and 

  WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2016-__, adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _______________, 2016, (“Ordinance”) grants the 
requested Special Use Permit for the Subject Property, subject to certain modifications, 
conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Subsection 7.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations of the Ordinance; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant agrees and covenants as follows: 
 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and abide by 
all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

 
2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been properly 

given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agrees not to 
challenge any such revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a 
denial of any procedural right. 

 
3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not, and will not be, in 

any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of 
the Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Subject Property, 
including, without limitation, the Special Use Permit granted in the Ordinance, 
and that the Village’s issuance of any such permits does not, and will not, in any 
way, be deemed to insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and 
at any time. 

 
4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify the 

Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed 
officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any 
and all claims that may, at any time, be asserted against any of such parties in 



 4

connection with the operation and use of the Subject Property or the Village’s 
adoption of the Ordinance granting the Special Use Permit set forth in the 
Ordinance. 

 
Dated: ____________, 2016. 
 
ATTEST:       LYFT HEALTH AND FITNESS, LLC 
 
 
By:        By:      
 
 
        Its:___________________________ 

 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
Memorandum 
 

 
TO:    Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

FROM:  Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
 

DATE:  July 15, 2016 
 

SUBJECT:    Agenda Item #10 – Physical Fitness Facility Special Use Permit Request for 960 North 
Shore Drive, Unit #6 

 

 

 
 

Applicant Information: Lyft Health and Fitness, LLC (Petitioner) 

Location: 960 North Shore Drive, Unit #6 
 

Requested Action: 
 

Request for a special use permit 
 

Public Notice: Lake County News Sun – July 5, 2016 
 

Existing Zoning: Light Industry District (L-1) 
 

Purpose: Request for a special use permit to operate a 
physical fitness facility at 960 North Shore Drive, 
Unit #6 located in the L-1 District. 
 

Tenant Space: 
 

8,200 sq. ft.  
 

Existing Land Use: L-1 District – multi-tenant building with office and 
service uses  
 

Surrounding Land Use:  North: Office and Warehouse 
 East: Office 
 South: Retail Garden Center  
 West: Auto Dealer 
 

Comprehensive Plan Land Use 
Objective: 

Enhance and maximize economic return to the 
Village in a manner compatible with existing uses.  
 

Zoning History: Ord. #2012-24: SUP to operate a carpet and 
upholstery cleaning facility (no longer operational); 
and 
Ord. #2014-17: SUP to operate a dog daycare, 
boarding and grooming facility. 
 

Applicable Land Use  
Regulations: 
 

 Section 10-4-2E: Special Use Permits 
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



Background and Summary 
 
On June 24, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Lyft Health and Fitness, LLC 
(Petitioner) requesting a Special Use Permit (SUP) to allow the operation of a physical fitness facility 
at 960 North Shore Drive, Unit #6.  The Petitioner currently operates the business in Lake Forest at 
825 S. Waukegan Road (Sunset Foods development).   
 
Zoning Analysis  
 
The Petitioner will operate a physical fitness facility in a multi-tenant building mainly comprised of 
office and service uses.  According to the Petitioner, the physical fitness services are provided in small 
groups (10 to 15 people).  Also, in addition to small group training, the Petitioner provides personal 
training, specialty training, sport specific training and youth athletic training. The Petitioner states as 
part of the submittal the 2,000 sq. ft. of space will be used for gym equipment and 3,300 sq. ft. for an 
indoor turf field. The remaining space will be used as a reception area, athlete lounge and offices.   
 
According to the Petitioner’s materials the hours of operation are:  
 
Hours of Operation: 
From 5:30 a.m. to after 6:30 p.m. throughout the 
week.  

 
It is unclear from the application materials when the fitness facility closes Monday through Friday and 
on Saturday.   
 
Staff anticipates that, due to the nature of the business, deliveries to the building will be minimal, if 
any.  
 
The Petitioner indicates parking for clients will be made available on the north side of the lot.  The 
building is 33,399 sq. ft. in size.  Required parking in the L-1 Zoning District for production, assembly 
and office uses is 1 space per 600 sq. ft. of floor area (or 54 spaces) and there are 55 spaces available.   
  
There will be minimal impact to public utilities as adequate water and sewer services are currently 
available.  Sanitation service will be provided by the property owner’s contractor.  
 
Village Staff does not anticipate any irregular police and/or fire service impacts.  
 
The PCZBA may recall its consideration earlier this year of a request from Vlad’s Gym, Inc. for a SUP 
to operate a physical fitness facility at 910 Sherwood Drive, Unit #23 (ordinance attached).  The 
Village Board granted the SUP with the following conditions: 

 The facility shall be operated solely for the purpose of conducting individual personal 
training sessions for no more than two clients at one time using the nature and type of 
equipment generally described in the application.  The premises shall not be used for 
any other physical fitness services, including without limitation group classes; and 

 The facility may be open for business during the following hours: Monday through 
Friday: 5:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m., Saturday 6:00 a.m. to 



12:00 p.m., unless otherwise approved by the Village Board of Trustees by resolution 
duly adopted. 

The limited number of clients reflects the personal training service offered by Vlad’s Gym, Inc. 
 
The Petitioner has provided statements addressing the standards for special use permits in the attached 
zoning application.  The PCZBA should consider if the Petitioner’s statements and submitted materials 
satisfy the established standards for special use permits.  
 
PCZBA Authority 
 

The PCZBA has authority to: 
 

 Recommend the Village Board approve, approve with conditions or deny the request for:  
o a SUP to operate a physical fitness facility at 960 North Shore Drive, Unit #6. 

 
Recommendation 
 

Following the public hearing to consider the requests, the PCZBA should take one of the following 
actions: 

 If more information is required, continue the public hearing to a date certain to allow the 
Petitioner to provide additional information. 

 If more information is not required, vote to recommend the Village Board approve, approve 
with conditions or deny the request for:  

o a SUP to operate a physical fitness facility at 960 North Shore Dr., Unit #6. 
 

Attachments 
 

 Petitioner’s zoning application and related material. 
 
If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum, please 
feel free to contact me at 847-283-6889. 






























































































